IBM® Storage

# **IBM Storage Solutions for SAP Applications** Version 1.5

IBM Storage Team



#### © Copyright International Business Machines Corporation 2020.

US Government Users Restricted Rights – Use, duplication or disclosure restricted by GSA ADP Schedule Contract with IBM Corp.

# Contents

About this document
Scope
Prerequisites
Foundation: Data placement and data management
IBM storage architecture for SAP HANA TDI Environment.
Implementation requirements
Physical installation and setup of IBM Storage Systems
Configuring the storage landscape
Data protection: Backup and recovery
SAP HANA backup, IBM Spectrum Protect for Enterprise Resource Planning
IBM FlashCopy backup for SAP HANA.
ElashCopy backup of SAP HANA with IBM Spectrum Copy Data Management
Data placement: SAP data aging
Dvnamic tiering
Data tiering optimization
Data aging
Impact to storage
Data protection: Disaster recovery.
Disaster recovery with geographically dispersed resiliency
SAP Landscape Management
SAP HANA infrastructure
IBM System integration to SAP LaMa
SAP LaMa basic setup and configuration
SAP LaMa use cases that are related to storage 42
Annendix 58
Notices
Trademarks
Terms and conditions for product documentation61
Applicability
Commercial use
Rights
Privacy policy considerations



# About this document

This IBM® Redpaper<sup>™</sup> publication is intended as an architecture and configuration guide to set up the IBM System Storage<sup>™</sup> for the SAP HANA tailored data center integration (SAP HANA TDI) within a storage area network (SAN) environment. SAP HANA TDI allows the SAP customer to attach external storage to the SAP HANA server.

The paper also describes the setup and configuration of SAP Landscape Management for SAP HANA systems on IBM infrastructure components: IBM Power Systems and IBM Storage based on IBM Spectrum® Virtualize.

This document is written for IT technical specialists and architects with advanced skill levels on SUSE Linux Enterprise Server or Red Hat Enterprise Linux (RHEL) and IBM System Storage.

This document provides the necessary information to select, verify, and connect IBM System Storage to the SAP HANA server through a Fibre Channel-based SAN. The recommendations in this Blueprint apply to single-node and scale-out configurations, and Intel and IBM Power based SAP HANA systems.

For more information about the storage systems that are certified for SAP HANA production, see the Certified and Supported SAP HANA Hardware Directory.

### Scope

This Blueprint provides a solutions architecture and the related storage endpoint capabilities that interact with the following software and hardware components:

- IBM Spectrum Virtualize
- IBM SAN Volume Controller
- IBM FlashSystem® Family
- IBM Spectrum Protect
- IBM Spectrum Protect for Enterprise Resource Planning
- IBM Geographically Dispersed Resiliency for IBM Power Systems
- Linux operating system (SLES or RHEL)
- SAP Landscape Management
- IBM Power Systems
- IBM Power Virtualization Center (PowerVC)

This technical report does not:

- Provide performance analysis from a user perspective
- · Replace any official manuals and documents that are issued by IBM
- Explain the installation and configuration of SAP HANA or SAP S/4HANA

# Prerequisites

This technical paper refers to SAP documentation that is available for download from the SAP Help Portal.

It is assumed that you are familiar with and have basic knowledge of the following products:

- IBM FlashSystem
- IBM Spectrum Protect
- IBM Spectrum Protect for Enterprise Resource Planning
- Linux operating system (SLES or RHEL)
- SANs

# Foundation: Data placement and data management

This section covers data placement and data management.

#### **IBM storage architecture for SAP HANA TDI Environment**

IBM System Storage must be connected through a SAN to the SAP HANA server. Figure 1 shows the relationship between Linux file system, LINUX LV, VG, and PV, and the Virtual Volumes (VD, VDISK) and Managed Disks (MD, MDISK, RAIDs/Arrays) of an IBM FlashSystem. The standard layout for an SAP HANA database includes the following components:

- One or more VDs are placed in the storage pool
- One or more LVs are in one volume group (VG)
- · One VG is placed on one or more physical volumes (PVs, a Linux term)
- One PV is one virtual disk (VD, an IBM term)
- One or more VDs are placed in the storage pool



Figure 1 SAP HANA disk layout

IBM recommends the use of IBM SAN Volume Controller as a virtualization layer to enable centralized management of the storage systems and easy high-availability and disaster-recovery functionality, and IBM FlashCopy® backup and tiered-storage pooling.

Figure 2 shows the high-availability storage architecture for SAP, with IBM SAN Volume Controller configured as an enhanced stretched cluster.



Figure 2 IBM Spectrum Virtualize architecture landscape diagram

All data, which is stored on IBM SAN Volume Controller as virtual volumes, is mirrored through IBM SAN Volume Controller virtual disk mirroring onto the physical storage system on sites A and B. These storage systems are a mix of IBM FlashSystem hardware. They are configured depending on the workload, based on the total number of SAP instances and the size of each SAP instance.

To set up a stretched storage cluster, a tiebreaker (quorum) mechanism is required. A requirement met in this case with an IP quorum.

#### Implementation requirements

Identify the appropriate size for your IBM Spectrum Virtualize environment, and then review requirements for hardware and software based on your SAP HANA landscape.

Use Table 1 to determine the capacity of the IBM Storage systems that you need, based on the number of SAP instances you manage. Both the total number of SAP instances and the database size in terabytes (TB) are shown in Table 1.

Number of SAP HANA instances (max)	Size of each SAP HANA instance on disk (max)	IBM Storage system sizing
6 Prod + 30 Dev/Test	0.5 TB	Small
12 Prod + 60 Dev/Test	1 TB	Medium
12 Prod + 40 Dev/Test	2 TB	Large
20 Prod + 48 Dev/Test	4 TB	Extra Large
10 Prod + 45 Dev/Test	8 TB	Extra Large

Table 1 Storage sizing for SAP HANA

Table 1 on page 3 guides you through your storage sizing. If you need more precise sizing, contact your IBM sales representative or IBM Business Partner for a sizing with the IBM myFlash4HANA tool, which is available to IBM sales team members and IBM Business Partners only.

#### Hardware requirements

This section covers the hardware requirements for small, medium, large, and extra large configurations. Table 2 on page 4, Table 3 on page 6, Table 4 on page 7, and Table 5 on page 8 contain the descriptions and quantities for IBM components that are used in the storage-configuration Blueprints.

The configurations are recommendations to meet the SAP HANA TDI performance and capacity specifications that are determined by SAP Quick Sizer.

The hardware specifications that are provided are current at the time of this writing. Part substitutions might be required, depending on hardware availability. Be cautious if you plan to substitute a smaller quantity of higher-capacity drives, particularly for the database. A smaller quantity of drives might not provide comparable performance.

The tables contain abbreviated part lists, which include only major components. Work with your hardware supplier to ensure that your configuration is complete.

The tables include recommended configurations for IBM FlashSystem and in addition the configuration of an enhanced cluster setup with IBM SAN Volume Controller and IBM FlashSystem, which is a high availability option for SAP HANA landscapes.

Also, IBM SAN Volume Controller is always certified for SAP HANA in combination with any certified backend storage system.

You must provide or acquire hardware that is based on suitable scale requirements. You can choose components that are equivalent to or better than those listed.

**Note:** Part numbers for IBM warranties are not included here. There are standard offerings for 1-year and 3-year warranties. The warranties that are available for purchase depend on your configuration requirements.

A SAN switch must be included, with enough ports to match those of the physical SAP HANA server.

A SAN environment likely exists and might need to be extended.

#### Hardware requirements for small-sized landscapes

Entry enterprise IBM FlashSystem solutions are designed to provide simple, high-performance management of block-based storage. For this reason, IBM FlashSystem is suited for use by SAP HANA. The configuration is based on Table 2.

Blueprint component	Description	Quantity	Part number
IBM SAN Volume Controller	IBM SAN Volume Controller Storage Engine Required for optional HA solution		2147-SV2

Table 2 Hardware requirements for small-sized landscapes

	IBM SAN Volume Controller Initial Storage Engine		3001
	Additional IBM SAN Volume Controller Storage Engine		3002
	4-port, 32 Gb Fibre Channel card, per engine	1	AH1D
	IBM Spectrum Virtualize software for IBM SAN Volume Controller V8		5641-VC8
	IBM Spectrum Virtualize software for IBM SAN Volume Controller 3Y		5641-VCC
	IBM Enterprise Class Support for IBM SAN Volume Controller		5773-ECS
IBM Storage	IBM FlashSystem 5030 Controller		2072-3H4
	16 Gb Fibre Channel adapter pair		ALBB
	Controller cache upgrade		ALGA
	7.68 TB, 2.5-inch flash drive (solid-state drive [SSD])	12	AL82
IP quorum	Linux system, native or as a virtual machine (VM)		RHEL > V7.x SLES > V12.x

#### Hardware requirements for medium-sized landscapes

Table 3 lists the hardware requirements for medium-sized landscapes.

Blueprint component	Description	Quantity	Part number
IBM SAN Volume Controller	IBM SAN Volume Controller Storage Engine Required for optional HA solution		2147-SV2
	Initial IBM SAN Volume Controller Storage Engine		3001
	Additional IBM SAN Volume Controller Storage Engine		3002
	4-port, 32 Gb Fibre Channel card, per engine	2	AH1D
	IBM Spectrum Virtualize software for IBM SAN Volume Controller V8		5641-VC8
	IBM Spectrum Virtualize software for IBM SAN Volume Controller 3Y		5641-VCC
	IBM Enterprise Class Support for IBM SAN Volume Controller		5773-ECS
	Cache upgrade 256 GB		ACH1
IBM Spectrum Storage™	IBM FlashSystem 5100 Controller		2077-4H4
	32 Gb Fibre Channel adapter pair		ACB9
	Controller cache upgrade		ACGF
	9.2 TB, 2.5-inch flash drive (FCM)	12	AES6
IP quorum	Linux system native, or as a VM		RHEL > V7.x SLES > V12.x

Table 3 Hardware requirements for medium-sized landscapes

#### Hardware requirements for large-sized landscapes

Table 4 lists the hardware requirements for large-sized landscapes.

Blueprint component	Description	Quantity	Part number
IBM SAN Volume Controller	IBM SAN Volume Controller Storage Engine Required for optional HA solution		2147-SV2
	Initial IBM SAN Volume Controller Storage Engine		3001
	Additional IBM SAN Volume Controller Storage Engine		3002
	4-port, 32 Gb Fibre Channel card, per engine	2	AH1D
	IBM Spectrum Virtualize software for IBM SAN Volume Controller V8		5641-VC8
	IBM Spectrum Virtualize software for IBM SAN Volume Controller 3Y		5641-VCC
	IBM Enterprise Class Support for IBM SAN Volume Controller		5773-ECS
	Cache upgrade 384 GB		ACH2
IBM Spectrum Storage	IBM FlashSystem 7200 Controller		2076-824
	32 Gb Fibre Channel adapter pair	2	ADB4
	Controller cache upgrade		ACGB
	9.6 TB, 2.5-inch flash drive (FCM)	24	ADS6
IP quorum	Linux system, native or as a VM		RHEL > V7.x SLES > V12.x

Table 4 Hardware requirements for large-sized landscapes

#### Hardware requirements for extra large-sized landscapes

For even larger SAP HANA deployments, IBM FlashSystem solutions are a good fit with respect to maximum performance and density (TB per rack unit). Also, the configuration for IBM SAN Volume Controller includes spare nodes for increased availability.

Table 5 lists the hardware requirements for extra large-sized landscapes.

Tabla E	Hardwara rac	nuiromonte for	ovtra larga cizad	landcoanac
i able 5	i laiuwaie ieu	junements ioi	exila large-sizeu	ianuscapes

Blueprint component	Description	Quantity	Part number
IBM SAN Volume Controller	IBM SAN Volume Controller Storage Engine Required for optional HA solution		2147-SV2
	Initial IBM SAN Volume Controller Storage Engine		3001
	Additional IBM SAN Volume Controller Storage Engine		3002
	Standby IBM SAN Volume Controller Storage Engine		3003
	4-port, 32 Gb Fibre Channel card, per engine	3	AH1D
	IBM Spectrum Virtualize software for IBM SAN Volume Controller V8		5641-VC8
	IBM Spectrum Virtualize software for IBM SAN Volume Controller 3Y		5641-VCC
	IBM Enterprise Class Support for IBM SAN Volume Controller		5773-ECS
	Cache upgrade 384 GB		ACH2
IBM Spectrum Storage	IBM FlashSystem 9200 SFF controller		9846-AG8
	32 Fibre Channel adapter pair	3	AHB4
	Cache upgrade	1	ACGB
	19.2 TB NVM Express (NVMe) IBM FlashCore modules	24	AHS7
IP quorum	Linux system, native or as a VM		RHEL > V7.1 SLES > V12.x

#### Physical installation and setup of IBM Storage Systems

This section describes how to set up and configure the storage systems that are outlined. The physical setup of the appropriate IBM storage systems is described in the following documents:

- IBM SAN Volume Controller library and related publications
- IBM System Storage SAN Volume Controller Models 2145 and 2147 Hardware Installation Guides:
  - IBM FlashSystem 5000 documentation
  - IBM FlashSystem 7200 documentation
  - IBM FlashSystem 9200 documentation

#### Configuring the storage landscape

This section describes configuring the IBM storage systems and the Linux operating system in preparation for SAP HANA.

Figure 3 shows the following logical storage relationship:

- One file system (here, XFS) is built on one logical volume (LV)
- One or more LVs are in one volume group (VG)
- · One VG is placed on one or more physical volumes (PVs, a Linux term)
- One PV is one virtual disk (VD, an IBM term)
- One or more VDs are placed in the storage pool



Figure 3 Logical storage configuration

The following central schema is used to set up the infrastructure for SAP HANA TDI:

- 1. Verify that you met all SAP-provided infrastructure requirements.
- 2. Configure the IBM storage systems.
- 3. Create VMs or logical partitions (LPARs) for the HANA systems.
- 4. Create SAN zones between storage systems and VMs or LPARS.
- 5. On the storage systems, map the storage volumes by logical unit number (LUN) to the target SAP HANA nodes.

- 6. Install the Linux operating system on VMs.
- 7. Perform Linux setup and tuning, including multipath and input/output (I/O) scheduler configuration.
- 8. On each Linux host, create the file systems for SAP HANA data, log, and shared.
- Set up Network File System (NFS) services for the SAP HANA shared directory if you plan to scale out your HANA deployment by using a solution, such as SAP Business Warehouse (BW).

#### **Applying SAP requirements**

Consider the following primary SAP Notes for an IBM landscape:

- 2378874: Install SAP Solutions on Linux on IBM Power Systems (little endian)
- 2055470: SAP HANA on IBM Power Systems and IBM System Storage Planning and Installation Specifics: Central Note

#### SAN zoning between IBM SAN Volume Controller and IBM FlashSystem

The SAN administrator must create four SAN zones. For more information, see the section "Edge-core-edge topology" of Chapter 1, Storage Area Network, of *IBM System Storage SAN Volume Controller, and IBM FlashSystem 7200 Best Practices and Performance Guidelines.* 

#### Configuring IBM FlashSystem

All configuration can be completed by using the graphical user interface (GUI). This GUI eases the setup process compared to the use of the command-line interface (CLI). The IBM GUI guides you through the initial setup, including configuration of a distributed array and distributed RAID (DRAID).

Complete the following steps to configure the IBM FlashSystem to be used by IBM SAN Volume Controller:

- 1. Create a single pool, called Pool1.
- Include all SSDs in one distributed array (by using DRAID 6) and map that array to Pool1; turn on IBM Easy Tier®; turn off compression.
- 3. For small or medium configurations, create 4 VDs of equal size, by using 80% of the available Pool1 capacity.
- 4. For large configurations, create 8 VDs of equal size, by using 80% of the available Pool1 capacity.
- 5. Map the VDs to IBM SAN Volume Controller.

#### **Configuring IBM SAN Volume Controller**

To set up IBM SAN Volume Controller to provide an enhanced stretched cluster, follow the procedures up to Chapter 4 in *IBM Spectrum Virtualize and SAN Volume Controller Enhanced Stretched Cluster with VMware*.

Create two pools, site "A" and site "B," with the MD of IBM FlashSystem of "A" or "B."

#### Installing Linux

Install the Linux operating system according to the SAP Product Availability Matrix (PAM) for the chosen SAP HANA version. For more information, see SAP Note 1944799.

#### Creation of VMs (or LPARs)

Create VMs by using IBM Power Virtualization Center (IBM PowerVC). This setup is not part of this document.

During this setup process, IBM PowerVC also configures the appropriate SAN zones.

#### Creating volumes for SAP HANA VM

Figure 4 shows the required file system layout. Each colored box indicates one mount point with one LV and one VG.



Figure 4 File system layout for SAP HANA VM

Consider the following sizing guidelines:

- Use one 100 GB physical disk (PD) for root VG
- Use one 50 GB PD for /usr/sap/SID VG
- Use one 100 GB PD for /hana/shared/SID VG
- Use four PDs for /hana/data/SID VGs, sized to anticipate growth, according to HANA sizing guidelines
- Use four PDs (maximum size 500 GB) for /hana/log/SID VGs, sized according to HANA sizing guidelines

#### Creating the file systems for SAP HANA

Complete the following steps to create the file system for SAP HANA:

- 1. Use four PVs for /hana/data/log and four for /hana/log/SID; use one for each /usr/sap/SID and one for /hana/shared/SID. ANA (ana) is used as SID in this example.
- 2. Create a VG with an alignment size of 1 MB:

```
vgcreate -s 1M --dataalignment 1M analogvg /dev/mapper/WWID_1 dev/mapper/WWID_2
...
```

3. Create an LV with a stripe size of 256 KB:

lvcreate -i 4 -I 256K -l 100%VG -n analoglv analogvg

4. Create the file system:

mkfs.xfs -b size=4096 -s size=4096 /dev/analogvg/analoglv

5. Add file systems into /etc/fstab (see Figure 5).

/dev/anadatavg/anadatalv /hana/data/ANA xfs defaults 0 0 /dev/analogvg/analoglv /hana/log/ANA xfs defaults 0 0 /dev/anausrsapvg/anausrsaplv /usr/sap/ANA xfs defaults 0 0	/dev/anasharedvg/anasharedlv	/hana/shared/ANA	xfs	defaults	0 0	
/dev/analogvg/analoglv /hana/log/ANA xfs defaults 0 0 /dev/anausrsapvg/anausrsaplv /usr/sap/ANA xfs defaults 0 0	/dev/anadatavg/anadatalv	/hana/data/ANA	xfs	defaults	0 0	
/dev/anausrsapvg/anausrsaplv /usr/sap/ANA xfs defaults 0 0	/dev/analogvg/analoglv	/hana/log/ANA	xfs	defaults	0 0	
	/dev/anausrsapvg/anausrsaplv	/usr/sap/ANA	xfs	defaults	0 0	

Figure 5 File systems

6. Mount the file system:

mount /hana/log/ANA

mount ...

#### Required Linux tuning

Tune the Linux multipath settings and I/O scheduler selection.

#### Multipath

For more information about multipath configuration settings for IBM FlashSystem, see IBM Knowledge Center and search for your IBM FlashSystem.

#### Using user-friendly names

Optionally, you can use user-friendly names, as shown in Figure 6, which makes managing and identifying volumes easier.

Figure 6 User friendly naming

#### I/O scheduler (elevator kernel parameter)

The default Completely Fair Queuing (CFQ) scheduler delivers low I/O performance for multiple parallel streaming read processes. The NOOP scheduler is recommended for setups with devices that perform I/O scheduling, such as intelligent storage devices, or in multi-path environments. The Deadline scheduler can provide a superior throughput over the CFQ I/O scheduler in cases where several threads read and write, and fairness is not an issue (for example, for several parallel readers from a SAN).

We recommend the use of the NOOP scheduler for SAP HANA.

For more information, see SUSE System Analysis and Tuning Guide.

#### HANA configuration for IBM SAN Volume Controller

The following fileio parameters must be set for IBM storage systems by using the SAP HANA tool hdbparam:

async\_write\_submit\_active : on async\_write\_submit\_blocks : all async\_read\_submit : on

For more information about the SAP HANA tool, see this web page (log in required).

# Data protection: Backup and recovery

SAP HANA backups are required to protect against disk failures and enable earlier database resets. To perform online backups of SAP HANA, you can use the following IBM software tools:

- IBM Spectrum Protect for Enterprise Resource Planning: Data Protection for SAP HANA
- IBM FlashCopy backup for SAP HANA (FCTool)
- IBM Spectrum Copy Data Management (CDM)

Figure 7 shows the solution architecture of the virtualized SAP HANA environment in combination with Data Protection for SAP HANA, the FlashCopy backup solution, and IBM Spectrum Virtualize, which serves as the virtualization layer for storage.



Figure 7 Solution architecture

If you experience a total loss of the SAP HANA appliance, use the SAP HANA recovery procedure to recover the system. For more information about hardware recovery, see the suitable SAP documentation.

The following sections show where to find detailed information about the Data Protection and FlashCopy backup solutions.

#### SAP HANA backup, IBM Spectrum Protect for Enterprise Resource Planning

IBM Spectrum Protect, formerly known as IBM Tivoli® Storage Manager for Enterprise Resource Planning, includes the package Data Protection for SAP HANA.

For more information about how to install, configure, and run this integrated solution, see the *IBM Spectrum Protect for Enterprise Resource Planning* documentation.

#### **IBM FlashCopy backup for SAP HANA**

To minimize backup and restore time, IBM offers a FlashCopy solution that combines SAP HANA snapshot technology with IBM Spectrum Virtualize. For more information, see *IBM FlashCopy backup and copy solution for SAP HANA TDI*, *V4.1*.

#### FlashCopy backup of SAP HANA with IBM Spectrum Copy Data Management

To minimize the backup and restore time IBM offers a solution that combines SAP HANA SNAPSHOT technology with IBM Spectrum Virtualize FlashCopy. IBM Spectrum Copy Data Management (CDM) is able to backup SAP HANA databases using SAP HANA Snapshot and IBM FlashCopy technology.

IBM Spectrum Copy Data Management offers support for SAP HANA 2.0. Single tenant configuration can now be automatically protected using storage snapshot.

CDM supports IBM Spectrum Virtualize, which includes the IBM FlashSystem family, IBM Spectrum Accelerate, and some foreign storage systems. The supported applications and use cases of CDM are shown in Figure 8. CDM provides you with centralized management for the SAP HANA backups across data centers both local and remote.



Figure 8 Spectrum copy Data Management platform

Since CDM version 2.2.11, SAP HANA transaction logs also can be backed up and restored. This feature gives users the ability to perform backups and point-in-time (PIT) restores of SAP HANA databases. For more information about CDM, see IBM Knowledge Center. For more information about how to set up and use a combined CDM/Spectrum Protect for ERP environment to protect SAP HANA databases, see *Practical Guide: Protecting SAP HANA with IBM Spectrum Protect and IBM Spectrum Copy Data Management*, WP102813.

# Data placement: SAP data aging

For many years, SAP classified internal data based on its age and access pattern. For more information, see the following SAP documentation:

- https://blogs.sap.com/2016/10/03/how-to-perform-data-aging-in-s4hana/
- http://www.sapsa.se/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Wasserman.pdf
- https://www.slideshare.net/SAPTechnology/sap-hana-sps-09-dynamic-tiering

#### **Dynamic tiering**

Dynamic tiering is available for SAP BW on IBM DB2® and Oracle databases. Dynamic tiering distinguishes between:

- · Hot: Loaded in HANA random access memory (RAM) during database startup
- · Warm: Loaded into RAM on demand
- Cold: Stored outside the primary HANA database, but in a secondary anyDB database or SAP IQ by way of the nearline storage (NLS) interface
- Frozen: Stored outside any SAP database, or was archived and then deleted from the SAP database

SAP dynamic tiering retains Warm data in a HANA persistence layer and the data is brought into memory only when needed. Infrequently accessed data is retained in the persistence layer; if accessed frequently, it overwhelms the system.

Dynamic tiering can be installed on its own server, but not on its own HANA node. It is provided as an add-on option for native SAP HANA applications. At the time of this writing, SAP is evaluating dynamic tiering as an option for S/4HANA.

#### Data tiering optimization

Data lifecycle management strategies can be implemented with the data tiering optimization option. Data tiering optimization (DTO) is available for SAP BW on HANA or SAP BW/4HANA only and distinguishes between:

- Hot: Processed and stored on the primary HANA node
- · Warm: Processed and stored on extension nodes
- Cold: Processed and stored outside the primary and extension nodes on SAP IQ (not anyDB), and accessed by way of an NLS interface

DTO improves data management by shifting data to the performance, storage, and processing tier with the cost and performance characteristics that are best suited for that data. Data tiering options from SAP provide a trusted approach for intelligent enterprises to manage data growth effectively and economically.

Data tiering is similar to conventional BW on HANA scale-out, but also provides the benefits of lower CPU/RAM requirements on the extension nodes.

#### Data aging

Data aging is available for S/4HANA only, and distinguishes between:

- Hot: Loaded in HANA RAM during startup
- Warm: Loaded into RAM on demand

#### Impact to storage

In all three cases, the hot and warm data is on a file system and stored on a storage system.

Especially with S/4HANA data aging, HANA acts as a classical database, such as IBM DB2. Data is loaded from the file system into RAM on demand, instead of entirely at start, because the database size (in the file system) is almost always much larger than the available RAM.

This IBM Blueprint can be used to set up all three SAP aging scenarios if you decide to set up data aging for your SAP instance.

# Data protection: Disaster recovery

IBM Spectrum Protect is the eminent IBM enterprise backup and restore (EBR) tool. A key differentiator for IBM Spectrum Protect is that it performs a progressive incremental forever backup, which means that only a single full backup is required. All subsequent backups contain only incremental changes. This approach means that IBM Spectrum Protect solutions require less storage, compute, and network infrastructure when compared to other EBR solutions.

Through integration between the solutions, IBM Spectrum Protect and IBM Spectrum Virtualize manage and protect the huge volumes of data for big data analytics and new cognitive workloads.

Figure 9 on page 17 shows the architecture for a possible disaster-recovery scenario. In this use case, we have two on-premises data centers.



Figure 9 Possible disaster-recovery scenario

Site A is the main site. Under normal operations, IBM Spectrum Virtualize manages the storage resources that are needed by the VMs and their associated database applications, such as SAP S/4HANA. IBM Spectrum Protect is providing backup, archive, recovery, space management and, if necessary, bare-metal system recovery.

Site B is the failover site. It also is considered to be on-premises. IBM Global Mirror is mirroring the data on the IBM SAN Volume Controller cluster from Site A to Site B. IBM Geographically Dispersed Resiliency for Power Systems serves as the cluster manager that pairs the VMs across the two sites. This pairing ensures that each site has the resources available to run the host if a planned or unplanned move occurs. IBM Geographically Dispersed Resiliency for Power Systems is installed on both sites.

In case of a physical disaster on Site A, HANA can be restarted on Site B. If a logical disaster occurs, the data can be restored from the IBM Spectrum Protect instance on Site A. Some downtime occurs, but a business can successfully recover from either scenario, whether a physical or a logical disaster.

#### Disaster recovery with geographically dispersed resiliency

IBM Geographically Dispersed Resiliency for Power Systems is a set of software components that provide a disaster-recovery mechanism for VMs that are running on an IBM POWER® processor-based server.

The main purpose of disaster recovery is to have a defined (and possibly automated) procedure for recovery from a major business impact, such as an outage of the entire data center as the result of an earthquake, flood, or storm.

Recovery time objective (RTO) and recovery point objective (RPO) for disaster recovery are normally different from the RTO and RPO values for availability.

IBM Geographically Dispersed Resiliency for Power Systems offers the following benefits:

- Simplified disaster-recovery management
- Cost savings that are based on elimination of the need for hardware and software resources at the backup site
- · Reduced licensing costs
- · Reduced administrative costs
- · Ease of deployment because no high-availability clustering is required
- The ability to test the disaster-recovery environment without affecting the production environment

IBM Geographically Dispersed Resiliency for Power Systems uses VM technology to restart VMs at a backup site if a disaster or planned system maintenance by the administrator occurs. All of this is controlled by a single management system that is separate from the production systems. Replication is performed at the storage layer, which provides storage-based mirroring with automated failover.

IBM Geographically Dispersed Resiliency for Power Systems consists of several necessary components (see Figure 9 on page 17) that work together to provide a highly available environment for systems across two sites.

Figure 10 shows the principal setup. For more information about the various components, subsystems, and tasks that are associated with IBM Geographically Dispersed Resiliency for Power Systems, see *IBM Geographically Dispersed Resiliency for Power Systems*.



Figure 10 Components of IBM Geographically Dispersed Resiliency for Power Systems

# **SAP Landscape Management**

This section covers SAP Landscape Management.

#### **SAP HANA infrastructure**

This section covers the technical overview and SAP Landscape view.

#### Technical overview and SAP Landscape overview

SAP Landscape Management (LaMa) provides functionalities that customers can use to streamline their IT operation for SAP environments, such as:

- Monitoring
- Start, stop, and relocate SAP systems (including mass operations)
- Provisioning of SAP systems, operating systems, virtual machines, and storage volumes (LUNs)
- SAP system copy, cloning, and refresh

Some of these functionalities are provided by SAP, others integrate with SAP partner solutions. The IBM integrated solutions are: IBM PowerVC, IBM Spectrum Protect Snapshot (FlashCopy Manager) (see Figure 11).



Figure 11 SAP LaMa infrastructure example

Most relevant for IBM Storage is the system copy (cloning) and the provisioning parts of SAP Landscape Management. These are the use cases that we are addressing with this Blueprint.

SAP Landscape Management uses IBM PowerVC or IBM Spectrum Protect Snapshot to start FlashCopies or snapshots on IBM storage. IBM PowerVC is also used for the provisioning of LPARs (VMs), storage volumes (LUNs), and so on (see Figure 12).



Figure 12 IBM Power Systems and storage management with IBM PowerVC

In combination with Post-Copy Automation (PCA, delivered by SAP), customers can reduce the time that is required to set up a QA, test, or education system (as copy from a production system) from days to a few hours. In this case, storage-based snapshots replace time-consuming backups and restores of SAP systems and PCA handles application-specific tasks that are required after a system copy.

The users of LaMa are SAP administrators who are interested in SAP systems, databases, and sufficient file systems capacity. IT operations (such as LUN provisioning and operating system installation) are started by LaMa, and can be transparent to the SAP administrator, but not to the user who configures LaMa. You can compare the roles to the car driver and the mechanic.



Figure 13 shows the minimum landscape to set up and test the LaMa functions in the IBM lab.

Figure 13 SAP Landscape Management 3.0 setup

**Note:** The SAP note 2050537, "Support for SAP HANA in SAP Landscape Management", provides a consolidated overview of the SAP Landscape Management release history and associated functionalities.

#### SAP Netweaver installation (and upgrade to latest SP)

An SAP Landscape Management installation requires the following major tasks:

- Install SAP NetWeaver Application Server 7.5 for Java.
- Download and install the Landscape Management software packages on the NetWeaver Application Server.

SAP NetWeaver runs on multiple operating systems. We chose IBM AIX® and set up the following software:

- IBM AIX 7.2 Technology Level 03 Service Pack 2 Built 1845
- SAP NetWeaver 7.50
- SAP Landscape Management 3.0 SP10

For more information about the prerequisites and installation process for SAP NetWeaver 7.5, see the SAP manual *Installation of SAP Systems Based on the Application Server Java of SAP NetWeaver 7.1 to 7.5 on UNIX: IBM DB2 for Linux, UNIX, and Windows (Database: IBM DB2 for Linux, UNIX, and Windows, Operating System: UNIX/Linux).* 

For more information, see the following SAP Notes:

- 1972803: SAP on AIX: Recommendations
- 1707361: Inst. Systems Based on NW 7.1 and Higher: UNIX DB2 for Linux, UNIX, and Windows

These manuals and SAP notes describe the hardware and software requirements and the file system layout that is required for SAP NetWeaver with a specific database. We chose IBM DB2 database. Table 6 shows a sample file system layout.

Filesystem	GB blocks	Free	%Used	lused	%lused	Mounted on
/dev/db2bigSIDIv	19.88	19.71	1%	75	1%	/db2/ELM
/dev/db2sidlv	5.31	1.70	69%	7256	2%	/db2/db2elm
/dev/logdirlv	23.88	19.20	20%	67	1%	/db2/ELM/log_dir
/dev/sapdatalv	49.88	44.38	12%	10	1%	/db2/ELM/sapdata1
/dev/saptemp1lv	9.88	9.83	1%	4	1%	/db2/ELM/saptemp1
/dev/sapmntlv	11.88	9.19	23%	1233	1%	/sapmnt
/dev/usrsaplv	59.38	42.48	29%	550624	6%	/usr/sap

Table 6	Comple	file eveter	lovout
i able b	Sample	me system	ιαγουι

The SAP NetWeaver installation is described in the SAP manual, *SAP Landscape Management 3.0, Enterprise Edition, Installation Guide*, which is available on the SAP Help Portal.

The installation of SAP NetWeaver requires the following SAP tools:

- · Software Provisioning Manager (SAP installer, sapinst) to install SAP components
- Software Update Manager 1.0 to perform release upgrades, update single components, and install additional packages

We also recommend to use the SAP Maintenance Planner to find and download appropriate and compatible software packages.

To work with the SAP Maintenance Planner, see the SAP Help Portal and search for "Maintenance Planner". Then, click the button of the corresponding application.

**Note:** For more information about SAP Landscape Management 3.0, enterprise edition, as an add-on to SAP NetWeaver Application Server for Java, see SAP note 2350235, "SAP Landscape Management 3.0 - Enterprise edition".

#### SAP Landscape Management installation and upgrade to latest SP

SAP provides the Landscape Management software called SAP Component Archive (SCA) files, which can be installed and updated by using the Software Update Manager (SUM).

SUM and the SCA files are available for download from the SAP Support Portal. At the portal, select **Download Software**.

Log on to the LaMa server as <sid>adm and unpack the Software Update Manager package by using the following command:

SAPCAR -xf <download directory>/<path>/<Archive>.SAR -R /usr/sap/<sid>

For example:

./sapcar -xf /instimages/SUM/SUM10SP23\_1-20006540.SAR -R /usr/sap/ELM

To start the Software Update Manager, run the following command as the root user: /usr/sap/<SID>/SUM/STARTUP <SID>

Then, open a web browser and access the Software Update Manager by using the following URL:

http://<hostname>:1128/lmsl/sumjava/<SID>/index.html

The Software Update Manager guides you through the installation process (see Figure 14).

PROCESS EXECUTION				
Extraction Configu	a 4 ration Checks Preprocessing	5 6 Execution Postprocessing		
65% Process is in dialog s	tate			
Current step: Select corr	nponents			
Select Components				
Path to manually prepared For more information, go to If you change the content o	directory: <i>linstimages/LAMA_30/SP10</i> the TargetVersionReport.html. If the manually prepared directory after the initial	scanning, you have to rescan the direct	ory again by selecting Rescan.	
Path to manually prepared For more information, go to If you change the content o The following components I Key	directory: finstimages/LAMA_30/SP10 the TargetVersionReport.html. If the manually prepared directory after the initial have applicable updates in the manually prepared Vendor/Name	scanning, you have to rescan the direct d directory. Select the version that you v Type	ory again by selecting <i>Rescan</i> . want to apply for each component. Current Version	Target Versio
Path to manually prepared For more information, go to If you change the content o The following components I Key 1	directory: <b>/instimages/LAMA_30/SP10</b> the TargetVersionReport html. the manually prepared directory after the initial have applicable updates in the manually prepared Vendor/Name sap.com/VCM	scanning, you have to rescan the direct i directory. Select the version that you Type SC	ory again by selecting <i>Rescan</i> . want to apply for each component. Current Version 3.00.9.2	Target Versic 3.00.10.0
Path to manually prepared For more information, go to If you change the content o The following components I Key 1 2	directory: <i>linstimages/LAMA_30/SP10</i> the TargetVersionReport.html of the manually prepared directory after the initial have applicable updates in the manually prepared Vendor/Name sap.com/VCM sap.com/VCM_ENT	scanning, you have to rescan the direct d directory. Select the version that you Type SC SC	ory again by selecting Rescan. want to apply for each component. Current Version 3.00.9.2 3.00.9.0	Target Versio           3.00.10.0           3.00.10.0
Path to manually prepared For more information, go to If you change the content of The following components I Key 1 2 3	directory: <i>linstimages/LAMA_30/SP10</i> the TargetVersionReport.html f the manually prepared directory after the initial have applicable updates in the manually prepared Vendor/Name sap.com/VCM sap.com/VCM_ENT sap.com/VCM_CR4E	scanning, you have to rescan the direct directory. Select the version that you Type SC SC SC SC	vory again by selecting Rescan. want to apply for each component. Current Version 3.00.9.2 3.00.9.0 3.00.9.0	Target Version           3.00.10.0           3.00.10.0           3.00.10.0

Figure 14 SAP LaMa upgrade with Software Update Manager

Three SCA packages are required for the SAP LaMa 3.0 Enterprise Edition: VCM, VCM\_ENT, and VCMCR4E.

For more information about SUM and the LaMa installation, see the following SAP manuals:

- Updating SAP Java Systems on UNIX and Linux: IBM DB2 for Linux, UNIX, and Windows (Upgrade Guide -Software Update Manager 1.0)
- SAP Landscape Management 3.0, Enterprise Edition, Installation Guide

#### Initial SAP Landscape Management setup

Now that SAP LaMa is installed, log on to the SAP NetWeaver Administrator (NWA) application and complete the following steps:

- 1. Open http://lamahost:50000/nwa URL in a web browser.
- In the SAP NetWeaver Administrator application, select Configuration → Scenarios → Configuration Wizard. Then, select Initial Setup for SAP Landscape Management, (see Figure 15 on page 24).

Configuration Wizard:	Overview	Restore Default View	🗢 Back Forward 🖨	History   Ho	me Help Log Off
avorites Related Links Go To	Support Details			Search:	G
Automation Tasks					E, E
First chose the view, then select a task and the	e action you want to perform				
Show: All Configuration Tasks					
To perform the initial technical configuration of	functional units, see the Functional Unit Co	nfiguration UI			
To perform the initial technical configuration of           Start         Resume         Re-execute	functional units, see the <u>Functional Unit Co</u>	nfiguration UI			😽 Expand All
To perform the initial technical configuration of          Start       Resume       Re-execute         Find:	Go Group By: By Execution Time				🔀 Expand All
To perform the initial technical configuration of          Start       Resume       Re-execute         Find:	Go Group By: By Execution Time	nfiguration UI		Executed By	Expand All
To perform the initial technical configuration of          Start       Resume       Re-execute         Find:	Go Group By: By Execution Time	Status		Executed By	Expand All
To perform the initial technical configuration of          Start       Resume       Re-execute         Find:	Go Group By: By Execution Time	Status		Executed By	Expand All

Figure 15 Initial setup for SAP LaMa with the Configuration Wizard in SAP NWA

3. Access the SAP Landscape Management application by using the URL and perform the basic configuration steps for your SAP landscape.

#### More information

The SAP Landscape Management 3.0, Enterprise Edition User Guide is available in the SAP Help Portal and describes the initial setup and the configuration steps for the LaMa use cases. Access the SAP Help Portal and search for "Landscape Management 3.0" to download this manual.

For more information, see SAP note 2039615: *Managing system landscapes with SAP Landscape Management Enterprise Edition*.

For more information about the configuration steps that are required for this IBM Blueprint sample setup are described in "SAP LaMa basic setup and configuration" on page 29.

#### **IBM System integration to SAP LaMa**

This section describes the integration of SAP LaMa into an IBM Power Systems environment. For the integration of virtualized IBM PowerLinux systems and IBM storage, the IBM Power Virtualization Center (PowerVC) is required, as shown in Figure 16 on page 25. If the SAP system was installed on Linux\_x86, the PowerVC counterpart IBM Spectrum Protect Snapshot is required.

	SAP Instance	Systems			
SAP Landscape Management 3.0	Instance Agent Hosts SAP HostAgent	Hosts	Linux_PPC64	AIX	Linux_x86
Virtualization Adapter	→ E Virtua	Virtualization	PowerVC*	PowerVC <sup>-</sup>	VMware (RAW Device Mapping)
	➡ 聞 Storage	Storage	Power/VC"	IBM S	pectrum Protect napshot
				IBM Spectrum Storage	

Figure 16 Integration of SAP LaMa with IBM Power Systems

The following IBM components must be integrated into SAP LaMa:

- IBM Power Virtualization Center (IBM PowerVC) for virtualization management
- IBM FlashSystem 9200 storage system
- IBM PowerSystem H922
- · SAP Adaptive Extensions with IBM libraries

For the host communication with SAP LaMa, the SAP Host Agent must be installed on every managed SAP host. The SAP Host Agent is the most important agent in SAP LaMa. Ensure that you keep the Host Agent updated with the latest patch level on each host in the landscape. The SAP Host Agent provides an update feature that helps you with that task.

The SAP Host Agent enables SAP LaMa to start and stop instances, and to monitor the status of computer systems.

For more information, see SAP note 1031096: Installing Package SAPHOSTAGENT.

#### IBM PowerVC Setup

IBM PowerVC Virtualization Center is an advanced virtualization and cloud management offering, which is built on OpenStack, that provides simplified virtualization management and cloud deployments for IBM AIX, IBM i, and Linux VMs running on IBM Power Systems. PowerVC is designed to improve administrator productivity and simplify the cloud management of VMs on Power Systems servers.

To manage SAP HANA environments on PowerLinux with SAP LaMa, PowerVC must be integrated into SAP LaMa. PowerVC manages the IBM Power Systems and IBM storage system for the SAP LaMa tasks.

Note: The minimal supported IBM PowerVC version is 1.4.0.

To install PowerVC, see Installing IBM Power Virtualization Center.

The pre-installation checklist for PowerVC (PVC\_checklist.pdf that is attached to SAP Note 2372251) provides more information about the environment that is required for supporting the IBM PowerVC Storage Adapter for SAP LaMa 3.0. It also specifies the supported versions of the hardware and software components that compose the system landscape for SAP LaMa Tasks.

IBM PowerVC includes the following tasks:

- An IBM PowerVC user with Administrator privileges is required. SAP LaMa uses this user for creating the LPARs, creating and deleting LUNs, and mapping them to the target LPAR.
- Communication between SAP LaMa and IBM PowerVC by using "server certificates" provides the most secure level. The IBM PowerVC certificate is used, and the host name within the certificate is verified against the host name in SAP LaMa. In this case, the IBM PowerVC server certificate must be imported into the keystore of the SAP NetWeaver engine on which SAP LaMa is running.
- PowerVC must be defined in LaMa as Virtualization manager and as Storage manager as described in the following steps:
  - a. To register PowerVC as Virtualization manager, browse to Configuration  $\rightarrow$  Infrastructure  $\rightarrow$  Virtualization Managers, as shown in Figure 17.

SAP	Landscape M	lanagemen	t							Working Se	t: <all> 💌</all>
		<b>D</b> .	Ê		-6-		2.0				
Advanc	ed Operations	Provisioning	Automation S	Studio	Monitoring	Cor	figuration	Ir	frastructure		
	Network Components	Virtualiza	tion managers	Storage Ma	anagers Cloud N	lanagers	Repositories	Java	PCA		
Labe	el			-					Vendor		Product
F											
Pow	verVC Virtualization Mar	nager							IBM		IBM PowerVC
Powe: 1 to	tal 1 shown 1 salacted	Selected: Pou	vorVC Virtualization	Managor							
Detaile		Selected. I of	erve virtualization	manager							
Call	Test Configuration										
	Test Conliguration										
Basic F	Properties										
Label:		PowerVC Virtua	lization Manager								
User Na	ame:	powervcadmin									
Passwo	ord:	•••••	•••••								
URL:		https://powervc									
Monitor	ring Interval (Seconds):			300							
Additio	onal Properties										
Name			Value							Туре	
HTTP	S Security		Use server certificate	e - weak host	tname checking					String	
Certifi	cate Truststore		TrustedCAs							String	
Power	rVC Project		ibm-default							String	
Power	rVC Domain		Default							String	
Use L	PAR names as hostnan	nes								Boolean	

Figure 17 PowerVC integration as Virtualization manager

b. To register PowerVC as Storage manager, browse to **Configuration**  $\rightarrow$  **Infrastructure**  $\rightarrow$  **Storage Managers**, as shown in Figure 18 on page 27.

	Management		Worki	ing Set: <all></all>	Search:	i Go	<b>(</b>	ELM on lama(13:46)	Related Links & Help _	Administra
1.p		È		. Cer						E.
Advanced Operations	Provisioning	Automation Studio	Monitoring	Configuration	Infrastructure					Setup
Network Componer	ts Virtualization ma	nagers Storage M	lanagers Cloud Man	agers Repositorie	es Java PCA	_	_			
Add Remove   Expo	rt Import   Supported	Storage Integration								<u>B</u> .
Label	Vendor	Product			Version	Required St	torage Library '	Version		
8										
FS9100	IBM	IBM PowerVC Storage A	dapter		3.0.3	3.4.4 or high	her			
Rows: 1 total, 1 shown, 1 selec	ted Selected: FS9100									
Details										
Edit   Test Configuration	n									
Basic Properties										
Label:	FS9100									
User Name:	powervcadmin									
Password:	•••••									
URL:	https://10.0.240.153									
Monitoring Interval (Second	ls):	30								
Additional Properties										
Name	Value			Ţ	ype	Mandatory	Description			
HTTPS Security	ignore serve	r certificate		s	tring	×.	use a stored certificate).	rity level (e.g. strong = use certificate with weak hos	e a stored certificate (sta stname check, ignore ser	indard), ver
Certificate Truststore	TrustedCAs			s	tring		Certificate tro certificate of server certifi	uststore of SAP NetWeav the virtualization manage icate.	er that contains the serv r. Not needed when igno	er ring the
PowerVC Project	ibm-default			s	tring		Specify proje	ect name in PowerVC		
PowerVC Domain	Default			s	tring		Specify dom	ain in PowerVC		

Figure 18 PowerVC integration as Storage manager

During the execution of the use cases, SAP LaMa calls:

- Storage commands by way of PowerVC to retrieve information about the storage volumes that contain SAP systems.
- Storage commands by way of IBM PowerVC to configure and run the cloning and copying process of SAP systems.

For more information about IBM PowerVC and SAP LaMa, see the following SAP notes:

- 2372251: Integration of IBM Components into SAP LaMa for Power
- 2372252: Configuration of IBM PowerVC virtualization adapter for SAP LaMa
- 2075173: Integration of IBM Components into SAP LVM 2.1 for IBM Power
- 2372935: Configuration of IBM PowerVC Storage Adapter for SAP LaMa

#### **IBM FlashSystem family**

IBM FlashSystem 9200 systems are virtualized, NVMe-based, all-flash, software-defined storage solutions that unlock the power of your data by combining the latest IBM Spectrum Virtualize, IBM FlashCore®, IBM Storage Insights, and IBM FlashSystem 9200 multicloud software technologies.

The IBM FlashSystem 9200 storage system, as shown in Figure 19 on page 28, runs IBM Spectrum Virtualize software and introduces the following remarkable new features in comparison to the predecessor models:

- NVMe drive support: NVMe is a new logical device interface standard from 2011 for accessing non-volatile storage media that is attached by way of a PCI Express bus.
- Lower latencies through RDMA, direct memory access from the memory of one node into that of another without involving either operating system.

Clustering option with the older V7000 systems.

Because traditional storage systems can provide capacity for established backup environments, the new IBM FlashSystem 9200 systems are the storage foundation for building the next generation Data Protection and Reuse solutions:

- The IBM Spectrum Virtualize code stack allows you to create snapshot copies of VMs quickly and efficiently
- IBM FlashSystem 9200 Multi-Cloud solution for data reuse, protection, and efficiency

It is recommended to use fully equipped 9200 units only, with 24 NVMe Flash Core Modules.



Figure 19 IBM FlashSystem 9200 NVMe

For more information about the IBM FlashSystem, see *IBM FlashSystem 9200 and 9100 Best Practices and Performance Guidelines*.

For more information about which IBM storage models are certified for SAP HANA, see the Certified and Supported SAP HANA Hardware Directory.

#### **IBM Power System H922**

IBM Performance Optimization With Enhanced RISC (POWER) IBM POWER9<sup>™</sup> servers were launched in 2018 and are based on high-performance processors, the ninth generation of its kind. POWER9 servers are one of the most powerful, secure, and scalable servers in the world. The top-of-the-line POWER9 server model is E980, which can support up to 192 cores and 64 TB of memory. POWER9 servers also are available in entry-level and midrange models H922 and H924. POWER9 servers support IBM AIX, Linux, and IBM i operating systems.

Built and optimized for SAP HANA, the IBM Power System H922 (see Figure 20) and H924 boast a large memory footprint of up to 4 TB in a dense form factor for gaining insights faster while delivering high reliability and performance. For this Blueprint setup, a H9223-22H Power System was used and the H922 featured following configuration:

- CPU: 20
- Memory: 512 GB
- Fibre Channel adapter: 2 x PCIe2 16 Gb 2-port Fibre Channel adapter
- Network: PCIe3 2-port 25/10Gb NIC@ROCE SFP 28 Adapter



Figure 20 IBM Power System H922

The communication between SAP LaMa and the H922 is done by way of the PowerVC server. In SAP LaMa, no configuration is required for the PowerSystem.

For more information about the IBM H922, see *IBM Power Systems* H922 and H924Technical *Overview and Introduction*.

#### **SAP Adaptive Extensions**

The SAP Adaptive Extensions (SAPACEXT\*.SAR) package contains the IBM storage and platform libraries for SAP LaMa. The libraries must be installed in addition to SAP Host Agent for performing various operations by using SAP Landscape Management software. You install SAP Adaptive Extensions on every managed host where SAP HANA is installed.

Download the latest patch for your platform of SAPACEXT.SAR from the SAP Help Portal. (At the portal, click Support Packages and Patches  $\rightarrow$  Browse Download Catalog  $\rightarrow$  SAP Technology Components  $\rightarrow$  SAP ADAPTIVE EXTENSIONS.

This package contains the following main components:

libsaposprep.o

This library includes specific functions for activating and deactivating virtual IP addresses and handling of IPSec firewall.

libsapacosprep\_ibm.o

This library includes specific functions for mounting and unmounting NFS/GPFS file systems.

For more information about installing the SAP Adaptive Extensions, see "Basic host configuration" on page 30.

For more information about the SAP adaptive extensions, see the SAP Help Portal and SAP Note 1759181.

#### SAP LaMa basic setup and configuration

This section describes how to set up SAP LaMa before any landscape entities are configured. The setup can be accessed after logging in by clicking **Setup** in the main menu.

The earlier style Web Dynpro view is opened for the setup GUI (see Figure 21).

SAP Landsca	pe Management		Working Set: <all></all>	Search:	i Go	<b>\$</b>	ELM on lama(11:40)	Related Links & Help _	Administrator $_{\blacktriangle}$	
Advanced Operations	Provisioning	Automation Studio	Monitoring	Configuration	Infrastructure					Setup
Settings . Edit   Export Imp	Authorizations Validat	ions Export, Import, F	eset							Basic mode
User Interface	Notification Engine	Monitoring Sys	nchronization/Standby	Advanced						

Figure 21 Web DynPro main window

#### **Established GUI**

SAP LaMa 3.0 SP10 offers a new and advanced Web GUI, but the Web Dynpro interface is still available because it is required for some of the landscape configuration tasks. Some of the views of these established applications are marked as deprecated, but it makes sense to re-enable them for a few reasons. For example, much of the documentation (SAP notes and external docs) refers to the Web Dynpro GUI; therefore, it makes life easier if it is available.

To enable the established views, browse in the Setup sheet to **Settings**  $\rightarrow$  **User Interface**. Ensure that **Activate Deprecated Web Dynpro Views** and **Display Individual Instance Operations** are enabled by selecting them.

#### SAP LaMa Engine Settings

The Engine Settings are used to control the communication between SAP LaMa and the landscape components. It is important to adjust these settings before starting with the integration of any component so they fit your needs.

To access the SAP LaMa Engine Settings, browse in the Setup sheet by clicking Settings  $\rightarrow$  Engine. Ensure that Expert Mode is enabled for this view by selecting the Expert Mode option (see Figure 22).

Landscape Management working Set: 🖘 Search: 👔 🚱 🌾 🖨 ELM on lama(14:18) 🖌 Related Links & Help 🖌 Administrator 🖌								
	R.	È	-6-	24				
Advanced Operations	Provisioning	Automation Studio	Monitoring	Configuration	Infrastructure	Setup		
Settings Edit   Export Imp User Interface	Authorizations Validat	ions Export, Import, Re	eset			Expert mode		
Security Settings Default User Name for	Host Agents:	sapadm	0	neration Settings				

Figure 22 Enable Expert Mode Setting

#### **Security settings**

You must define common or individual credentials for the SAP Host Agents of the landscape. It is acceptable practice to define a common user and password for all Host Agents. However, common users might not be allowed for security reasons, or password authentication is forbidden at all, especially in larger environments. In such cases, select the **Allow Configurations or Credentials Individually per Host Agent** option. By using this option, you can specify individual users and passwords or an X.509 certificate per Host Agent.

In the demonstration environment, a common user name and password are used. In the same way, the settings for SAP Instance Agents can be adjusted to meet a higher level of security requirements.

#### **Operation settings**

Adjust these settings to enable the execution and management of multiple instances on the same host. To run multiple instances (not databases) select the **Allow multiple instances on the same Host** option. This option is required if you plan to run a system database with a central instance on the same host, for example.

Select the **Allow Multiple Database Instances on Same Host** option if you plan to run multiple database instances on the same host. For more information, see SAP Note 919135.

Select the **Allow MountPoint Creation** option if you want to copy or clone the S/4HANA database. During the provisioning process, missing mount points are created on the target host.

#### **Basic host configuration**

This section describes how to integrate a Linux or AIX host into the SAP landscape. SAP LaMa uses an agent for communication called SAP Host Agent. This document describes the manual installation of the SAP Host Agent, which works in the same way for Linux and AIX.

The following prerequisites must be met:

 If the host runs a firewall, ensure that TCP ports 1128 and 1129 are accessible from the LaMa system.  Obtain SAP Software Provisioning Manager (SWPM) and Host Agent for your operating system and architecture from SAP.

For more information, search the SAP Help Portal for "SAP Host Agent".

The SAP Host Agent can be installed manually or by using the SAP Software Provisioning Manager, which is required for other SAP installations.

Because the Host Agent software is shipped as an SAP Archive, the SAP proprietary SAPCAR.EXE application must be downloaded to unpack the archive.

Complete the following steps:

1. Unpack the agent archive into a temporary directory, as shown in the following example:

```
hana1: cd /tmp/host_agent_install_dir
hana1: /tmp/SWPM/SAPCAR -xvf /tmp/SAPHOSTAGENT40-40-70002261.SAR -manifest
SIGNATURE.SMF
```

It is important to specify the -manifest option because the SAP signature file that is required for validating the software is not extracted otherwise.

2. Install the software, as shown in the following example:

```
hana1: cd /tmp/host_agent_install_dir
hana1: ./saphostexec -install -verify
```

The SAP Host Agent is installed into the /usr/sap/hostctrl directory and the sapadm user is created if it does not exist.

3. Set a password for sapadm, as shown in the following example:

hana1: passwd sapadm

If the SAP LaMa Engine was set up to use a common password for all Host Agents, the sapadm password must be set.

4. Ensure that the agent was installed correctly and is working, as shown in the following example:

```
hanal: /usr/sap/hostctrl/exe/saphostexec -version
SAPHOSTAGENT information
-----
kernel release
                    721
kernel make variant
                    721 REL
compiled on
                    Linux GNU SLES-12 ppc64le cc4.8.5 for
linuxppc64le
compiled for
                    64 BIT
compilation mode
                    Non-Unicode
compile time
                    Oct 20 2018 04:32:59
```

For Linux, SAP offers the SAP Host Agent software alternatively as an RPM package, which makes the installation process less manual.

#### Installing SAP Adaptive Extension

SAP Adaptive Extensions are required by LaMa to manage SAP HANA systems by way of the Host Agent. The software must be downloaded from SAP as a SAR archive.

Install the downloaded archive by using the following command:

hana1: /usr/sap/hostctrl/exe/sapacosprep -a InstallAcExt -m
/tmp/SAPACEXT\_44-20010482.SAR

#### SAP LaMa basic configuration

This section covers the SAP LaMA basic configuration.

#### **Pool creation**

SAP landscapes often contain many entities, which might become confusing quickly. Therefore, SAP Landscape is organized into *pools*, which are a logical grouping of coherent components. Pools can be grouped in a higher level that is called *containers*, but this process is out of the scope of this Blueprint because we do not work with containers in the demonstration environment.

Creating at least one pool is required because all components that are added later require a pool to which they are assigned.

Complete the following steps to create a pool:

- 1. Click the **Configuration** icon in Web Dynpro.
- 2. In the Pools tab, click Add Pool.
- 3. Define a freely chosen name and select **Save** to save the pool (see Figure 23 on page 33).

SAP Landscape	e Management		Working Set:	<all> Search:</all>	i 🙆 🤞
		È	-6	25	
Advanced Operations	Provisioning	Automation Studio	o Monitoring	Configuration	Infrastructure
Pools Syste	ms Hosts C	haracteristics Cus	stom Relations		
Certain attributes of pools ca	n only be changed if no	instances or hosts are	assigned.		
Pool Overview					
Add Pool Add Containe	Remove Save	Cancel Move	Export Import		
Name		C	Description		
8					
▼ Pools & containers					
ESCC_SAP_POC	DL				
•					
Rows: 1 total, 1 shown, 1 selecte	ed		>		
Custom Properties	Contained System	ns/Instances & Hosts			
Add Remove					
Property Name			Property Value		
F					
i Table is empty					
Rows: 0 total, 0 shown, 0 select	ed				

Figure 23 Adding Pools

#### SAP landscape infrastructure configuration

Landscape infrastructure components are required for most of the landscape management tasks.

Although hosts and SAP instances can be configured without any infrastructure components, it is good practice to define the required infrastructure before the SAP systems are configured for SAP LaMa.

The demonstration environment includes configured network components, software repositories, virtualization managers, and storage managers.

The following sections discuss the purpose of these components.

#### Network configuration

At least one network must be defined in an SAP LaMa environment. A network definition is a IPv4 network that contains the IPv4 broadcast address and the netmask of this network (see Figure 24 on page 34).

In an advanced configuration step (not covered here), an automated DNS update can be established. For more information, see SAP Note 1572841.

SAP Landscar	oe Management		Working Set: <				
		Ès	-6-				
Advanced Operations	Provisioning	Automation Studio	Monitoring				
Network Compo	Network Components Virtualization managers Storage						
Network User Ma	nagement Name Ser	ver HTTP Proxy	Assignment				
A network cannot be remo	wed if it is used in an assig	nment or has assigned in	stances or hosts.				
Overview							
Add Remove   Ex	port Import						
C Name							
8							
Yellow24							
1							
Rows: 1 total, 1 shown, 1 sele	cted Selected: Yellow24						
Details Conta	ined Systems/Instances &	Hosts					
Save Cancel							
Basic Configuration							
Name:*	Yellow24						
Subnet Mask:*	255.255.255.0						
Broadcast Address:*	10.0.240.255						

Figure 24 Adding network components

#### Storage Adapter configuration

Storage Adapters can be used for obtaining information about the attached storage environment. SAP LaMa offers different adapter types, which are all specific to the vendor and product.

In the demonstration environment, the IBM PowerVC Storage Adapter is used. For more information about the configuration and integration of this component, see "IBM System integration to SAP LaMa" on page 24.

#### Virtualization Manager configuration

Virtualization Managers often are deployed to manage a data center's virtualization environment. SAP LaMa makes use of some of those Virtualization Managers. LaMa manages the SAP relevant parts of a virtual environment through the Virtualization Manager.

The demonstration environment integrated the IBM PowerVC Virtualization manager. For more information about the configuration and integration of this component, see "IBM System integration to SAP LaMa" on page 24.

#### SAP software repository configuration

SAP software repositories are also defined in SAP LaMa. They are used for system updates and tasks, such as cloning or deploying to a new system. Repositories are defined as paths, where the required software components must exist. It is the responsibility of the administrator to ensure that a repository is complete.

SAP LaMa uses some predefined provisioning types for a repository (see Figure 25).

Landscape	Managemer	nt			Working Set:	All> 🔻	Search:		i Go	🔶 🔿
			È							
Advanced Operations	Provisioning	А	utomation S	studio	Monitoring		Configuration	1	Infrastructure	
Network Component	s Virtualizatio	on manage	ers Sto	rage Mana	agers Cloud Mana	gers	Repositories	Ja	va PCA	
Rows: 1 total, 1 shown, 1 selected										
							Select a reposi	itorv t	vpe or a reposito	orv
Configurations									,, ,	<u> </u>
Overview										
Add Configuration Rom	eue Configuration		t langet	1						
Add Conliguration [ Rem	ove Conliguration		n import							
Provisioning Type		Release	OS Type	OS Arch	nitecture			Na	ame	
R										
SAP Adaptive Extension	ns Configuration	7.21-44	Linux	PPC_LE				SA	PACEXT Linux on Po	wer
SWPM configuration for	r system copy	7.X	Linux	PPC_LE				SV	VPM Linux Systemco	ру

Figure 25 Software Repositories

#### SAP instance configuration

SAP LaMa communicates with SAP instances by way of agents, SAP Host Agents, and SAP Instance Agents. Host Agents are required for performing landscape management tasks that interact with a host, such as preparing and unpreparing SAP instances and databases. SAP LaMa managements tasks that interact with the instances require the SAP Instance Agents.

Other types of communication are done by way of the storage and virtualization adapters because not all of the required information for all possible management tasks can be gathered from hosts and instances only.

The more provisioning tasks that are not directly related to hosts and instances require those external tools. Consider that cloning an SAP instance requires setting up the storage on the target host, including items, such as network and SAN configuration.

#### **Discover Hosts**

The first step of instance integration is to define hosts. Because SAP Host Agents are running on each of the hosts, we can now configure LaMa to connect to these hosts and add them as SAP hosts. *SAP host* means here that the host can run SAP instances or databases.

To discover hosts in LaMa, click the **Configuration** icon in Web Dynpro. In the **Hosts** tab, select **Discover** (see Figure 26).

<b>SAP</b> Landscape Managem	ent	Working Se	et: <all> 💌</all>	Search:
Advanced Operations Provisioning	Automation St	udio Monitoring	Con	figuration
Pools Systems Hosts	Characteristics	Custom Relations		
Save Cancel   Previous Next				
Find Instances/Hosts Add	2 3 nstances Add Hosts	4 Summary		
Newly Assigned Instances: 0 of 0 non-mai	naged instance(s) found			
Newly Assigned Hosts. 0 of 0 hon-mail	laged host(s) lound			
Source Details				
Source:*	Detect Using Host and Ir	nstance Agent		
Find:	Hosts Only	<b>•</b>		
Include Instances/Hosts Managed Already:				
Include Diagnostics Agents for Instances:	$\checkmark$			
Detect Standalone Databases:				
Detect Shadow Databases:				
Ignore Custom Instances:				
Detect Using Host Agent and Instance	Agent			
Detect Timeout [seconds]: 30	Basic Mode			
Host Names Used for Detection				
Host Names (Separated by '.'):*	newhos	t1. newhost2. knownhost0		
Network Domain:		<u> </u>		
Common Host Agent Settings for All Ho	st Names Used			
Host Agent Port:	1128			
Use Secure Communication (HTTPS):				
HTTP Proxy:	<use n<="" th=""><th>WA global settings&gt;</th><th>)</th><th></th></use>	WA global settings>	)	
Authentication Type:	Default	Credentials (Basic)		

Figure 26 Search for Hosts

The detection source must be specified first because we want to detect hosts. Therefore, **Detect Using Host and Instance Agent** must be selected. Only hosts should be detected by this step; therefore, **Hosts only** must be found.

The resolvable names of the hosts and the network port of the Host Agent must be specified. This port usually is port 1128, which establishes a plain HTTP connection. If a higher level is required, a HTTPs connection can be chosen by using port 1129.

The HTTPS connection enforces at least TLS version 1.0. For more information about enabling TLS 1.1 and 1.2. in NetWeaver, see SAP note 2417205.

The Authentication Type is fixed to use the default credentials as defined by the SAP LaMa Engine setup.

The hosts should now appear in the Host Overview table, and each can now be edited for setting more features.

A wizard guides through the following configuration process (see Figure 27):

1. Change or verify the configuration. The version of the SAP Adaptive Extensions also can be queried here.

SAP Landscape	Management		Working Set: <all< th=""><th>&gt; Search:</th><th>i Go</th><th>🔶 🔿</th><th>ELM on lama(15:49)</th><th>Related Lin</th></all<>	> Search:	i Go	🔶 🔿	ELM on lama(15:49)	Related Lin
		È						
Advanced Operations	Provisioning	Automation Studio	Monitoring	Configuration	Infrastructure			
Pools Systems	Hosts	Characteristics Custom Re	elations					
Configuration - hana1								
Previous Next 🕨	Save Cancel   Ir	nport						
l	2 Host properties	3						
Managed:						- Default host	agent credentials configu	red in setup
Operational:				Host Ag	ent Version:	721, linuxpp	c64le, patch 40, changelis	t 1879308
				SAPACE	XT Version:	721, linuxpp	c64le, patch 45, changelis	t 1899227
Pool: ESCC_SAP_POC -				Use Sec	ure Communication (HTTPS):			
SAPACEXT Configuration:	21, linuxppc64le, patc	h 45, 🔻 Allow Downgrade:	]	Port:*		1128		
				HTTP P	roxy:	<use nwa<="" td=""><td>global settings&gt;</td><td>•</td></use>	global settings>	•
				Authenti	cation Type:			
				Test C	onnection Retrieve Version	Timeout [sec	onds]: 10	
				Entity R	elations			
				Add	Remove			
				Cu	stom Relation Type	Target En	tity Type	Target Enti
				i	Table is empty			
				Custom	Properties			
				Add	Remove			

Figure 27 Configuring a detected host

2. Configure more host properties (see Figure 28 on page 38).

Settings must be defined whether that host is enabled for Adaptive Extension and for system isolation.

The formerly defined network must be assigned to the host so that SAP LaMa knows how to handle the network connection to that host when it performs system provisioning.

Host-specific storage properties (such as SAN WWPNs) are also specified here. These values can be retrieved directly from host by using the Adaptive Extensions.

SAP Landscape Management	Working Set: <all></all>	Search:	o 🔶 🔶 ELM on lama(15:55) 🖌 Rela
Advanced Operations Provisioning Automation Studio	Monitoring Configu	varian Infrastructure	
Pools Systems Hosts Characteristics Custom R	elations		
Configuration - hana1			
Previous Next   Save Cancel   Import			
Basic configuration Host properties Mass Configuration			
System Provisioning Isolation Ready:			
Adaptive Enablement AC-Enabled:			
Capabilities SAPS Provided: 5,000			
Network Assignment DHCP and dynamic DNS used for IP address assignment:			
Does host perform NAT for other IP addresses?:	10		Add Interface ID
	seconds]: New Interfac	Network	Addimenace iD
eth0		▼ Yellow24	
Host-Specific Storage Properties			
Timeout [seconds]: 10 Retrieve from Host			
Partner ID	Property Name		Property Value
iom			ign.1994-05.com.rednat:7471203699f
ibm	OSTYPE		Linux
ibm	VIRTTYPE		NONE
ibm	WWPNS		C050760A76DA0000,C050760A76DA0002,C

Figure 28 Configuring more host properties

#### **Discover SAP Instances**

SAP Instances must be discovered by SAP LaMa before they can be integrated into the Landscape. LaMa offers different discovery sources, so there are many ways to detect and integrate systems.

Systems that are at a host can be detected by using the SAP Host Agent. However, if the current location of a system is unknown, the Landscape Scanner is used, which scans the local network for systems.

Regardless from which source a system is discovered, it is accessed by using the instance agent, which is a function or piece of software that is inside the system. Instance agents work similar to host agents. They use predefined network ports and are configured for several authentication mechanisms.

For more information about configuring Instance Agents, see SAP Note 1474866.

In the test environment, we use the basic authentication feature. However, because the databases were not yet installed by using a common user name, we must specify individual credentials for each system.

In this scenario, complete the following steps to detect systems by way of existing Host Agents:

 In the web GUI, click Configuration → Systems. The Web Dynpro view opens (see Figure 29).

	Ês	-6+	24
Advanced Operations Provisioning	g Automation Studio	Monitoring	Configuration
Pools Systems Hosts	s Characteristics Custom F	Relations	
Save Cancel   Previous Next			
Find Instances/Hosts Add I	2 3 4 nstances Add Hosts Summ	<b>a</b> nary	
Newly Assigned Instances: 0 of 0 non-main Newly Assigned Hosts: 0 of 0 non-main	naged instance(s) found naged host(s) found		
Source Details			
Source:*	Detect on Managed Hosts	-	
Find:	Instances and Hosts		
Include Instances/Hosts Managed Already:			
Include Diagnostics Agents for Instances:	$\checkmark$		
Detect Standalone Databases:			
Detect Shadow Databases:			
Ignore Custom Instances:			

Figure 29 Discover SAP instances using SAP Host Agent

- 2. Click **Discover** to start the configuration mask for running a discovery.
- 3. Choose the hosts on which you want to detect systems.

At the bottom of this window are the settings for the instance agent that must be specified (see Figure 30).

Instance Agent Settings	
The settings specified below will be used for If you specify the wrong parameters, some For more information, see SAP Note <u>147486</u>	all SAP instances found. instances might not be detected. This can be corrected later by going to the instance. <u>66</u> .
Use Secure Communication (HTTPS):	
Authentication Type:	User Name/Password (Basic)
User Name Pattern for Instance Agent:	
Instance Agent Password:	
Instance Agent Port Pattern:	
Common Database Administrator Setting The credentials specified below will be used If no credentials or incorrect credentials are This can be corrected later by going to the in DB Admin User Name: DB Admin Password:	gs for all database services found. specified, the monitoring of the database instances may fail later on. Instance configuration, editing these database instances, and entering the correct o

Figure 30 Instance Agent credential settings

Consider the following points:

- It is important to select User Name/Password (Basic) as the Authentication Type for the Instance Agent. Other types do not work in the demonstration environment because the instances were not set up for those authentication types.
- The window shows a second set of credentials to be defined, which are Common Database Administrator Settings. These settings can be ignored for now because they work only if all eligible databases were created with the same DB admin credentials.
- The DB admin user is not required for connection to the instance agent.
- The DB admin is a user who is defined inside the database; the instance agent user is an operating system user.
- If we do not access the database, we do not need any DB users to know. However, the DB admin is used later by SAP LaMa for several operations.

#### Configure SAP instances

More configuration steps might be required after an instance is detected by LaMa. Because not all information that is accessible by the instance agent is gathered automatically, check the details of each detected system or instance (see Figure 31).

- p		Êb	-b-	24		
ed Operations	Provisioning	Automation Studio	Monitoring	Configuration	Infrastructure	
Pools Systems Hosts Characteristics Custom Relations						
Diverview of Systems and Instances						
ver Remove Ins	stance and System A	eassign Instances Mass Co	onfiguration   Filtering	Export Import		
lame N						Managed
DB1: NetWeaver	ABAP 7.73, asdb1					~
Central servic	es: 00, asdb1					
AS instance: 02, cidb1						~
DB1: SAP R/3 2.00.036.00.1547699771, dbdb1						
▼ DB1 Databases : SAP HANA						~
System database: LM1, SAP HANA, dbdb1						<b>v</b>
<ul> <li>System database: MASTER (configured) : LM1, SAP HANA 01, dbdb1</li> </ul>						
	eed Operations Pools Sy ew of Systems a ver Remove Ins ne DB1: NetWeaver Central servic AS instance: 0 DB1: SAP R/3 2.0 DB1 Database DB1 Database System data	wed Operations       Provisioning         Pools       Systems       Hosts         word Systems and Instances       Hosts       Instance and System ↓       Remove Instance and System ↓	wed Operations       Provisioning       Automation Studio         Pools       Systems       Hosts       Characteristics       Custom         ew of Systems and Instances       word Systems and Instances       Reassign Instances       Mass C4         ew of Systems and Instance and System ▲       Reassign Instances       Mass C4         me       DB1: NetWeaver ABAP 7.73, asdb1       Central services: 00, asdb1         • Central services: 00, asdb1       AS instance: 02, cidb1         DB1: SAP R/3 2.00.036.00.1547699771, dbdb1       DB1 Databases : SAP HANA         • ① System database: LM1, SAP HANA, dbdb1       System database: MASTER (configured) : LM1, SAP HANA 01, db	Pools Systems   Hosts Characteristics   Custom Relations   Provisioning Hosts   Characteristics Custom Relations   Provisioning Pools Systems and Instances Provision Provision Provision Printing Provision Provision Printing Provision Provision Printing Provis	wed Operations Provisioning   Pools Systems   Hosts Characteristics   Custom Relations    word Systems and Instances   wer Remove Instance and System    Remove Instance and System  Reassign Instances   Mass Configuration Filtering   Export Import   DB1: NetWeaver ABAP 7.73, asdb1   • Central services: 00, asdb1   • AS instance: 02, cidb1   DB1: SAP R/3 2.00.036.00.1547699771, dbdb1   • DB1 Databases : SAP HANA   • Mystem database: LM1, SAP HANA, dbdb1   • System database: MASTER (configured) : LM1, SAP HANA 01, dbdb1	Automation Studio Monitoring Configuration Infrastructure     Pools Systems Hosts Characteristics Custom Relations     Pools Systems and Instances Reassign Instances Mass Configuration Filtering Export   Pool Infrastructure   Pools Remove Instance and System Reassign Instances Mass Configuration Filtering Export   Pool Infrastructure   Pools Remove Instance and System Reassign Instances Mass Configuration Filtering Export   Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure   Pool Infrastructure Pool Infrastruc

Figure 31 Detected instances overview

After selecting **Edit**, the extra information can be retrieved and is completed automatically.

Some extra setup is required for database instances. We did not specify any database user until now, so we must do that here.

Depending on the installation settings, a common user and password or individual users must be configured. Both Administrator and Manager users are required, and those users must be specified for each database instance. This information is used in configuring a minimum of four users:

- SystemDB Administrator
- SystemDB Manager
- Instance Administrator
- Instance Manager

The database credentials are shown in Figure 32.

Database Configuration	
Database Name:	LM1
Type:	HDB
SystemDB Manager User Name:	SYSTEM
SystemDB Manager Password:	•••••
SystemDB Administrator User Name:	SYSTEM
SystemDB Administrator Password:	•••••
Manager User Name:	SYSTEM
Manager Password:	•••••
Administrator User Name:	SYSTEM
Administrator Password:	•••••
Instance Name:	HDB01
Database Role Active:	MASTER
Database Role Configured:	MASTER
Configuration Directory:	/hana/shared/LM1/LM1/sapdbctrl-config
SAP Database Administration Installed:	

Figure 32 Database credentials

When a common user was specified, all user and password combinations are the same.

#### SAP LaMa use cases that are related to storage

This section covers the SAP LaMa use cases that are related to storage.

#### System Copy

With SAP Landscape Manager, you can create system copies or system clones of your SAP HANA environment at storage volume level. Although a system copy requires a different unique system ID, the system ID is not changed for the clone.

System clones are often used to create isolated testing, demonstration, or training systems while system copies are used to expand existing implementations or to create QA and Test systems.

As part of the cloning or copying, the newly created system can be isolated from the rest of the landscape to avoid conflicts with the original systems.

In this document, the storage-based System Copy of an SAP HANA system is described. The following steps are performed by SAP Landscape Management:

- 1. Clone SAP System.
- 2. Rename cloned SAP System.
- 3. Conduct post-copy activities.

To perform a system copy of the SAP HANA system, the following prerequisites must be met:

- Licenses, such as third-party and SAP licenses, are necessary.
- Suitable permissions are required, as described in the following web pages of the SAP Help Portal:
  - Standard Permissions
  - Standard Roles and Groups
- · Other prerequisites:
  - Valid Remote Function Call user
  - No validation errors on the host, system, or instance, which are used for the system copy
  - No alerts show up on the instance
- For a system copy of an SAP HANA system:
  - The installation must be performed adaptively. For more information, see this web page of the SAP Help Portal.
  - Software Provisioning Manager
  - SAP HANA lifecycle management tool (hdb1cm)
  - SAP Host Agent must be able to write to the operations.d subfolder

For more information about the prerequisites check, see this web page of the SAP Help Portal.

To create an end-to-end system copy of an SAP HANA System, browse to **Provisioning** in the Landscape Management system.

Select the SAP HANA system that you want to create the System Copy of in the **System and AS** tab and then, click **Copy System** (see Figure 33).

Advanced Operations Provisioning System and AS Virtual Host	Admition Studio Rentoring Configuration Infrastructure	Sete
Find: Next o R41: r41ci01.lvm.ats.fr o S41: s4tb/db00	Cone System Copy System (Standalone PCA), Rename System ( Manage System Snipshitts ,	Autory Recruip 10
	System Do Stat Markeever Addr 25.2 ( System Do Stat D	Previound By: Installation
	Instance	OS Network Description Provisioned By Provisioning Time (CET)
	System database (ABAP): MASTER: S4P; HANA 02; 841c01	Linux LAMART Installation Unknown
	AS instance (ABAP): 00, s1c01	Linux LAMANET Installation Unknown

Figure 33 SAP HANA Source

Specify a new System ID and a new HANA SID and select the Pool from where the target system is provisioned. Enter a new master password for the target system, which is used as System password; for example, the database users and for the operating system (see Figure 34).

Advanced Operations Provisioning	Automatio Studio Monterra Contguedado Historiculore	Setup
System and AS Virtual Host	1	
System Landscape Find: Next Next Next Next Next Next Next Next	System Copy - 541: Itel/Wever ABA7 752, 541:001   Fredux, Execution, Execution, Execution, Execution, Cancel  Fredux, Execution, Execution, Execution, Cancel  Fredux, Execution, Execution	Reset Step Check Step
<ul> <li> <ul> <li>\$\$41: s4phdb00</li> <li>\$\$541: s41ci01</li> <li>\$\$11: s41cioneci01.hvm.ats.fr</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	10-12-3-6-5-6-7-8-9-10-11-6 Basic Hosta HostNames Indance Number Storage Considency Users Rename Isolation ABAPPCA Summary	
	Basic Outs of Target System       System 0^*     Tai       Use Offerent Oblasses Inter: O       NALk SD**     TB       Post*     TOEU > LAM. Deen       Soft Mark Tolsaword for OS and OE Users       The manage masses of the off Section and the steps:       Passeord**     Control Basseord**       Control Basseord**     Control Basseord**       Description:     Coty of System SAT	

Figure 34 Basic Data of Target System

Next, select the host for the target system. You can place the system on one or several hosts.

You might want to select a host that does not have any other instances running to avoid interferences (see Figure 35, Figure 36, and Figure 37 on page 45).



Figure 35 Instances where not many resources are required, all instances can be on one host

System Copy - \$41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41ci01			
Previous Next 🕨   Finish 🕨   Start System Copy Create Blue	print ] Remote Execution Cancel		
Basic Hosts Host Names Instance Number St	5 6 7 7	8 9 10 ename Isolation ABAP PCA	Summary
Host Selection of Target System			
		Show Source Da	ta
Instance	Туре	Target Host	
AS instance: 00	Use existing host	pwrinx001	
Central services: 01	Use existing host	pwrlnx006	
System database: MASTER (configured) : HANA 02	Use existing host	pwrinx004	đ

Figure 36 Application Server, central services, and database are running on individual servers for maximum performance

Landscape Management	t				Wo	orking Set: <al></al>	Search:	i Go	💠 🐟 🛛 LDM on ds	splvm(09:07) _ Related Links & Help _ Administrator _
Advanced Operations Provisioning	Automation Studio Montoring Configuration	Infrastructure								Setup
System and AS Virtual Host										
System Landscape	System Copy - S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41ci01									
Find: Next	Previous Next Finish Start System Copy Create Blue	eprint 🖉 Remote Execution Cancel								Reset Step Check Step
	1 2 3 4 Basic Hosts Host Names Instance Number St	5 6 7 torage Consistency Users R	8 9 ename Isolation A	BAP PCA	11					
	Host Selection of Target System			A	vanced Host Se	election				
			( <b>S b</b>	our Source (						
	Instance	Type	Target Host	AV SOURCE L	allable Memory (M	IB]: =8192	Available SAPS	>=1000		
	AS instance: 00	Use existing host	• pwrinx006		Gancel				1000	
	Central services: 01	Use existing host	• pwrinx006		Host	Available Memory [MB]	Available SAPS	Network	Number of Instances	
	System database: MASTER (configured) : HANA 02	Use existing host	• pwrinx001	1						
					pwrinx001	64,522	5,000	LAMANET	0	
					pwrinx004	97,266	100.000	LAMANET	0	
					pwrinx005	97,413	100,000	LAMANET	0	
					pwrinx006	97,219	100,000	LAMANET	0	
L					pwrinx007	97,289	100,000	LAMANET	0	

Figure 37 For high performing systems pick a host with 0 number of instances running on to avoid inferences

With SAP Landscape Management, an adaptive setup is recommended, which means that application servers, central instances, and databases get their own virtual host names to disconnect the applications from the physical host. It allows the use of virtual IP addresses when applications are moved from one host to another. SAP Landscape Management configures the necessary DNS entries. For systems that are not adaptively installed, it is not possible to change the host name (see Figure 38).

Advanced Operations Provisioning	Automation Studio Monitoria	g Configuration	Infrastructure						Setup
System and AS Virtual Host									
System Landscape	System Copy - S41: NetWeaver ABAP	7.52, s41ci01							
Find: Next	Previous Next 🕨   Finish 🕅		eprint a Remote Execution Can	cel					Reset Step Check Step
<ul> <li> <ul> <li>S41: s4phdb00         </li> </ul> </li> </ul>					0 40				
6 S41: s41ci01     6 S41: s41ci01 km ats fr	Basic Hosts Host Nam	ves Instance Number S	torage Consistency Use	ers Rename I	solation ABAP PCA	Summary			
- V 341.84704/8007.741.888.8									
	Virtual Host Names and Networks								
	Add Remove								Show Source Data
			Target					Additional Information	
	Host Name	Auto IP Address	IP Address	Ne	stwork		Instance		Host Name Usage
	t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	<b>v</b>		LAI	MANET		<ul> <li>AS instance: 00</li> </ul>		Installation Host Name
	t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	4		LAI	MANET		<ul> <li>Central services: 01</li> </ul>		Installation Host Name
	t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	4		LAI	MANET		<ul> <li>System database: MASTER (configured) : HANA 02</li> </ul>		Installation Host Name
	L								
	41001 Jvm ats fr 41001 Jvm ats fr 41001 Jvm ats fr	e e e		LAI LAI LAI	MANET MANET MANET		AS Instance: 00     Central services: 01     System database: MASTER (configured) : HANA 02		Installation Host Name Installation Host Name Installation Host Name

Figure 38 Virtual host names

Next, the instance number can be changed, which might be necessary when several QA or development systems are consolidated on a single host (see Figure 39).

Landscape Management			Working Set: KAIN Search:	LDM on dsaplvm(09:16) _ Related Links & Help _ Administrator _
Advanced Operations Provisioning	Automation Studio Monitoring Configuration Infrastructure			Setup
System and AS Virtual Host				
System Landscape	System Copy - \$41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41ci01			
Find: Next	Previous Next F Finish F Start System Copy Create Blueprint & Remote Execution Cancel			Reset Step Check Step
<ul> <li>S41: s4phdb00</li> </ul>				
+ 🍅 \$41: s41ci01	P 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Basin Hoste Host Names Instance Number Storage Consistency Users Dags	9 10 11		
		and added Apple for Collinary		
	SAP Instance Numbers			
	SAP Instance	Instance Number		
	AS instance: 00	00		
	Central services: 01	01		
	System database, MASTER (conligured) . 349; HANA 02	02		

Figure 39 Changing the instance number

For a storage-based system copy, the complete data is copied from one volume to another volume by using the Storage adapters. The needed volumes can be selected (see Figure 40).

Advanced Operations Provisioning	Automation Studio Monitoring Configuration	Infrastructure					Setup
System and AS         Virtual Hos           System Landscape         Ind:         Nex           Ind:         Nex         State         State           • 0 R41: r41cl01.lvm.ats.fr         S41: s4phdb00         S41: s4phdb00         S41: s4phdb00	System Copy - S41: HetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41ci01	Blueprint _ Remote Execution Cancel	8 9 10 11				Reset Step Check Step
	Basic Hosts Host Names Instance Number Storage Volumes Copy Target Selecton _	Storage Consistency Users Re	aname Isolation ABAP PCA Summ	ary			(Show Source Data)
					Target		<b>A</b>
	Name Development	Operation	Name	Full Copy	Storage System	Storage Pool	Volume
	Storage Manager: PowerVC     Volume Group: s4ohdbyg		t4phdbyg	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>			
	Volume: sh1_hanavg	Create New Volume		₹	svc		
	Logical Volume: s4pvaribly		t4pvarlibly				
	Logical Volume: s4pshared/v		t4psharedlv				
	Logical Volume: s4pdatalv		t4pdatalv				
	Logical Volume: s4ploglv		t4ploglv	_			
	Volume Group: S4pbackupvg	Create New Volume	t4pbackupvg	¥	svc		
	Logical Volume: s4obakuply		Mobakuply				<b>.</b>
	Storage Manager Details						
	Labet PowerVC Vendor: IBM Product: IBM PowerVC Storage Adap Version: 30.3						
	Monitoring Time: (2019-03-28 19:51:01 CET						

Figure 40 Storage Based System Copy

To create a consistent copy, the database must be prepared; for example, all data must be written to the disk first. This process can be done online or offline and the execution can be scheduled (see Figure 41).

System Copy - 541: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41:01
Previous Next P   Final P   Start System Copy, Create Bluegrint , Remote Execution (Cance)     Reset Step (Check Step)
Image:
Database Consistency []
The following database constancy gatom can be chosen for cloning operations: Online: Choose Rouning DB Steek this southon to chosen the source database is running. An automatic crash recovery of the target database is triggered afterwards. Online: Choose Rouning DB Steek this southon to chose whether a supported transmittime for which the database should stay in suppert D. Rouning DB Steek this southon to chose whether a supported transmittime for which the database should stay in suppert D. Rouning DB Steek this southon to chose the saurce database is triggered afterwards. Online: Should and Restart Soleic this option to public the source system before storage choing and start the source system for storage choing and start the source database. Obtabase was stopped during system anaphot. D The Storage areasy stopped of Uring Storage and Start The source system for the source database. O The Storage areasy stopped of the source database is already stopped. D The Storage areasy stopped during system anaphot.
Scheduled Execution of Cloning Step 1
Use this option to schedule the (database) cloning step (clone volumes, clone virtual machine) for a later point in time. The system provisioning activity is executed immediately until it reaches the cloning step, when it is set to the status wating. When the scheduled time is reached, the system provisioning activity is executed immediately until it reaches the cloning step, when it is set to the status wating. When the scheduled time is reached, the system provisioning activity is executed immediately until it reaches the cloning step, when it is set to the status wating.
ATTENTION: Only the cloning step (and all subsequent steps) wait until the scheduled time is reached. All preceding steps (such as the stop operation in cases where the consistency option "Offline: Stop and Restart System" is selected) are executed immediately.
Softedule execution of coming step Execution Date (CF):
Execution Time (CET):

Figure 41 Options to create a consistent database

Figure 42 shows an example of how to schedule the copy creation.

Landscape Managemen	t	Working Set: <all> Search:</all>	i 💿 🔶 💠	LDM on dsaplvm(09:20) A Related Links & Help A Administrator A
Advanced Operations Provisioning	Automators Studio Kontorreg Contigueton Interativulare			Setup
System and AS Virtual Host				
System Landscape           Find:         Next:           • 0 R41:r41c01.hm.ats.fr         Next:           • 0 S41:s4phdb00         S41:s4phdb00           • 0 S41:s41cb1         Nm.ats.fr	System Cogy - Stiff Intelliverer ABAP 28, 241631 R Mrvius Hat B Prain MJ (Stir System Cogy Conta Risepret, Remote Frenzier, Catodi P 1 2 3 4 5 7 8 9 19 11 Base Most Host Hanse Instance Rumter Storage Consistency Lives Reare Robition ASAP F2A. Summer			[Reset Step][Check Step]
	Database Consistency []     00       00 Other BackupSigned D Uoto Treeod (seconds)     90       00 Other Steps detabatis dystem     00       00 Bit Collabase stresty stopped     Database vs. dysteged durp system segnet       Scheduled Execution of Cloning Step []     ()       () Scheduler of Cloning Step []     ()       () Scheduler Territor ()     ()       Last Store Ther ()     ()       Scheduler ()     ()			

Figure 42 Schedule Database Copies

In the **Users** tab, you can change or create users for the new system. If you configured your user management system in SAP Landscape Management, SAP Landscape Management creates users for you and assigns them to the correct groups (see Figure 43).

Landscape Management					Working Set: <al></al>	Search:	<b>i</b> Go 🖕	LDM on dsaplvm(09:21)	Related Links & Help "	Administrator "
Advanced Operations Provisioning	Automation Studio Monitoring	Configuration Infrastructure								Setup
System and AS Virtual Host										
System Landscape           Find:         Next           • o R41: r41ci01.kvm.ats.fr         Next           • o S41: s4phdb00         S41: s4phdb00	Previous Next      Print      Start S	ystem Copy    Create Blueprint _    Remote Execution	Cancel	10 11					Reset Step	Check Step
G S41: s41c01     S41: s41cloneci01.lvm.ats.fr	Basic Hosts Host Names	Instance Number Storage Consistency	Users Rename Isolation .	ABAP PCA Summar	У					
	User and Group Management									
									Show Details Show S	ource Data
				Target						
	User ID	User Name					User already exist	5		
	t4padm	t4padm								
		C TOON								
	liser Petails and Assigned Croups									
	vaer betalla and Assigned Groups									
	Target User Details			Ta	rget Group Assignment					
	User Name: [4padm				Add Remove	Drimony	Crown D		Can	<b>1</b>
	Password:				táoshm	C	costápshm ousaroup dosivm dosate	s desfr	Ciea	
	Confirm Password:				sapsys	•	cn-sapsys,ou-group,dc=lvm,dc=ab	s,dc=fr		
	Login Shelt: /bin/sh				s4psys	0	cn=s4psys,ou=group,dc=lvm,dc=ab	s,do=fr		
	User ID Number:									
	Additional Attributes									
	Name	Target Value		*						
	objectClass	top posixAccount inetOrgPerson								
	uid	t4padm								
	dn	uld=t4padm,ou=people,dc=lvm,dc=ats,dc=fr								
	sn	t4padm		_						
	Len .	reparent		<u></u>						~

Figure 43 Configure Users

The rename functionality is using the Software Provisioning Manager to change users and passwords and file system names for the target system (see Figure 44).

Landscape Managemer	t									Working Set: <al> Sear</al>	rch:	i Go	<b>\$</b>	LDM on dsaplvm(09:27)	Related Links & Help	Administrator
Advanced Operations Provisioning	Automation Studio	Monitoring	Configuration	infr	astructure											Setup
System and A3         Vittual Host           System Landscape         Index           Ind         Next           • 0         R41:r41ci011/vm ats.fr           • 0         S41:s4phdb00           • 0         S41:s4phdb00           • 0         S41:s4phdb00           • 0         S41:s4phdb00	System Copy - S41: N  Previous Next	VetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s Finish  Start	41ci01 System Copy Create	s Blueprint , Ri	emote Execution	Cancel 7 Users	Rename	9 Isolation	10 ABAP PCA	114 Summary					Reset	Step Check Step
<ul> <li>p pri sel concel·linusk.</li> </ul>	Provisioning Release Heat pertrado5 Source of alabase cere Pasaword for Source + Pasaword for Source + Tenand SYSTEM User Pe	Configuration for System Resease Configuration LinuxSystemCopy (7 X dentities AtARA SySTEM User= asseword =	em	▼ P	Release Version	ersion not yet	retrieved			Additional Personnelers Adda Database Schema: Seguer Jamis New Password for Schema user." Codim free Password for Schema User." Use AGO_USE_COLT User AGO_USE_COLT New Password by SYREM User." Codim New Password for Schema SYREM user." Codim New Password for That SYREM user." Codim New Password for That SYREM user." Adda Listen Person Strate SYREM user." Adda Listen Person Strate SyrEM user." Adda Listen Person Strate SyrEM user." Path In SHAIA Data Schume: Path In SHAIA Lag Valuese: Path In SHAIA Lag Secupe:	Target [SAPI6AP1 Tagemet		••• ••• ••• •••	Source BARADAPI Coston Ananharand Ananharand Ananharand Ananharand Ananharand Ananharand Ananharand Ananharand Ananharand Ananharand Ananharand Ananharand Ananharand		

Figure 44 Rename tab

To see whether the system is ready for system copy, run the prerequisite checker, which checks all instances simultaneously.

To avoid interferences of the copied system with the environment in the SAP landscape, the target system must be shielded. Therefore, SAP Landscape Management uses the firewall of the operating system to avoid any unwanted communication. In the Isolation tab, you can select ports to open necessary communication with the new system, but block all outgoing communication (see Figure 45 on page 48).

SAP Landscape	Management								Working Set: <al></al>	Search:	i Go	<b>\$</b>	LDM on dsaplvm(09:28)	Related Links & Help	Administrato
Advanced Operations	Provisioning	Automation Studio	Monitoring	Configuration	Infrastructure										Setup
System and AS	Virtual Host														
System Landscape		System Copy - S41: Ne	tWeaver ABAP 7.52, s4	101											
Find:	Next	Previous Next	Finish			n Cancel								Reset S	tep Check Ste
o R41: r41ci01.lvm.ats     o S41: s4phdb00     o S41: s41ci01     o S41: s41ci01	s.fr ivm.sts.fr	Basic Host	ts Host Names	4 Instance Number S	5 6 Torage Consistency	7 8 Users Renz	ame Isolation	10 ABAP PCA	11						
		Define Allowed Outrai	inn Compositions for Su	ntore la clatica											
		Add Remove   Re	ead Connections Of: Sour	rce Host 💌 Host Na	me: pwrinx005 💌 🚺	Get Connections									
		Rule Type		Target Host Name	Targ	et Port	Pre	lefined	Explanation				]		
		Host							Allow communication to host (localhost) on	al ports					
		Host		dsaplvm	Anyı	port		×.	Allow communication to host (dsaplvm) on a	I ports					
		Host		<ul> <li>pwrinx010</li> </ul>	Any	port			Allow communication to host (pwrinx010) or	all ports					
		Host		▼ sapnim	Any	port			Allow communication to host (sapnim) on all	ports					
		Port		Any host name	nfa			1	Allow communication to all hosts on port/set	vice (nfs)					
		Port		Any host name	idap			¥	Allow communication to all hosts on port/ser	vice (Idap)					
		Port		Any host name	Idapa			~	Allow communication to all hosts on port/set	vice (Idaps)					
		Port		Any host name	cifs			1	Allow communication to all hosts on port/ser	vice (cifs)					
		Port		Any host name	micro	soft-ds		~	Allow communication to all hosts on port/ser	vice (microsoft-de	i)				
													]		
		Unfence Target System Specify whether the targe	m after System Copy/R et system is unfenced aft system m with confirmation m without confirmation	efresh er the system copy/refre	sh activity. After the unfend	ing, all outgoing come	munication of the target sy	stem is allow	ved.						

Figure 45 Configure Isolation

To make all the necessary changes inside the target system, a default target list is provided at the source system and is run at the target system after start in the Post Copy Automation (PCA). The task list can be modified to take care of environment-specific changes.

You also can specify that more than one task list is run sequentially in the order that they are listed. However, the default task list is run on client 000 first (see Figure 46, Figure 47, and Figure 48 on page 49).

Here, you also can change the passwords for all configured remote function call (RFC) destinations to the master password.

Landscape Management	t			Working Set: <all> Search</all>	<b>i</b> 😡 💠	LDM on dsaplvm(09:30) _ Related Links & Help _ Administrator _
Advanced Operations Provisioning	Automation Studio Monitoring Configuration	Infrastructure				Setup
System and AS Virtual Host						
System Landscape	System Copy - S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41ci01					
Find: Next	Previous Next Finish N Start System Copy Creat		on Cancel			Reset Step Check Step
	I 2 3 4 Basic Hosts Host Names Instance Number	5 6 Storage Consistency	7 8 9 10 Users Rename Isolation ABAP PCA	11 Summary		
	Post Copy Automation					
	Apply master password to all configured RFC destinations					
	Add Remove Add Nove Up Vove Down Modify Pa	ameters				Task Manager
	*Client	Client Name	Client Role	*Task List	Task List Variant	Parameters Modified
	000 -	SAP AG	SAP Reference	SAP_BASIS_COPY_INITIAL_CONFIG		

Figure 46 One PCA task list

System Copy - S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41ci01					
Previous Next Finish Start System Copy Cre	ate Blueprint A Remote Execution	Cancel			Reset Step Check Step
Ip         1         2         3         4           Basic         Hosts         Host Names         Instance Number	5 6 Storage Consistency	7 8 9 1 Users Rename Isolation ABAP	10 11 AP PCA Summary		
Post Copy Automation 注					
Add Remove   Add Nove Up Vove Down   Modify	Parameters				Task Manager
*Client	Client Name	Client Role	*Task List	Task List Variant	Parameters Modified
000	SAP AG	SAP Reference	SAP_BASIS_COPY_INITIAL_CONFIG		
100	MOP for LAMA	Demo	SAP_BASIS_COPY_BDLS		

Figure 47 Multiple PCA task lists

System Copy - S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41ci01							
Previous Next      Finish      Start System Copy Create Blueprint      Remote Ex	ecution C	incel					
1         2         3         4         5         6           Basic         Hosts         Host Names         Instance Number         Storage         Consister	Tasks an i Inform Howe	I Task Parame nation: It is rec ver, if you are a	eters for Task Li commended that yo n expert user you	st SAP_BASIS_COPY_INITIAL_CONFIG u specify all necessary parameters within a may stil change parameters for one task list	task list variant using the task manager (transaction STC01). t run within this UI.		-
Post Copy Automation i	Statu	s Phase	Component	Task Name	Description	Parameters	Help
Apply master password to all configured RFC destinations	77						
Add Remove Add Nove Up Vove Down Modify Parameters	<b>•</b>	Verification	CHECK	CL_STCT_SC_PREPARE_SICK	Initial Consistency Check (SICK)		3
*Client Client Name	•	Prepare	USER	CL_STCT_SC_PREPARE_LOCK_USER	Lock client against logon	1	B
000 SAP AG	12	Prepare	ICM	CL_STCT_SC_PREPARE_DISABL_HTTP	Disable HTTP communication (SMICM)		B
100 VMOP for LAMA	•	Prepare	BATCHJOBS	CL_STCT_SC_PREPARE_BATCH	Set Batch Jobs to Released/Suspended via BTCTRNS1		B
	12	Precheck	BW	CL_STCT_SC_BW_CHECK	Check whether the system is a BW or connected to any BW		B
	Ð	Cleanup	SECSTORE	CL_STCT_SC_CLEANUP_SECSTORE	Delete inconsistent Secure Store Entries (SAP Note 1532825)		B
	Ð	Cleanup	MONI	CL_STCT_SC_CLEANUP_MONITORING	Cleanup of Operating System Monitoring Data (ST03N)		B
	Ð	Cleanup	CCMSCONFIG	CL_STCT_SC_CLEANUP_CCMSCONFIG	Cleanup of CCMS Configuration (RZ20, RZ21)		B
	l (b)	Cleanup	CCMSHISTORY	CL_STCT_SC_CLEANUP_CCMSHISTORY	Cleanup of CCMS History		B
	•	Cleanup	CUSTOMER	CL_STCT_SC_CLEANUP_CUSTOMER	Cleanup of Customer Defined Configuration Tables	<b>v</b>	B
	•	Cleanup	OTHERS	CL_STCT_SC_CLEANUP_OTHERS	Cleanup of Selected ABAP Basis Tables	1	B
	12	Cleanup	TC_TASKRUN	CL_STCT_SC_CLEANUP_TC_TASKRUN	Cleanup of Task List Runs (STC01)		B
	12	Cleanup	TC_TASKVARI	CL_STCT_SC_CLEANUP_TC_TASKVARI	Cleanup of Task List Variants (STC01)		B
	•	Cleanup	BATCHJOBS	CL_STCT_SC_CLEANUP_BATCH	Cleanup of Batch Jobs (SM37)	<b>v</b>	B
	12	Cleanup	DBACOCKPIT	CL_STCT_SC_CLEANUP_DBACOCKPIT	Cleanup of DBA Cockpit Configuration (DBACOCKPIT)		₿.
	Rows: 50 t	tal, 50 shown, 1	selected				

Figure 48 Individual tasks of PCA task list

In the Summary tab, all entered parameters are displayed; for example, host names and instance numbers. After you check the information, the System copy can be started (see Figure 49).

Landscape	e Management	t									Working Set: <all></all>	Search:	Ĩ	Go 🔶 🗇	LDM on dsi	aplvm(09:31) _ Related L	Links & Help 🖌 Administrate
1.e		Êb	-+	R	12												
Advanced Operations	Provisioning	Automation Studio	Monitoring	Configuration	In frastructure												Setup
System and AS	Virtual Host																
System Landscape		System Copy - S41: Net	Weaver ABAP 7.52,	s41ci01													
Find:	Next	Previous Next 🕨	Finish 📔   Star	t System Copy Creat	e Blueprint 🖌 Remote Exec	ution Cancel											
<ul> <li>o S41: s4phdb00</li> </ul>	5.0		_	_		_	_	_	_	_							
• 🙆 \$41: \$41ci01		+ 1 2	3	4	5 6	7	8	9	10	11							
<ul> <li>o S41: s41cloneci01.1</li> </ul>	lvm.ats.fr	Dasic Hosts	nost names	instance number	Storage Consistenc	y Users	Rename	Isolation	ABAP PCA	summary							
																	Show Source Data
		Disclaimer: SAP advises that it is the ci	ustomer's responsibil	ty to ensure that it has i	all necessary third party lice	nse rights requ	ured to clone a	and/or copy an i	environment usir	g this software,	and the customer has obta	ined and will maintai	n all such license right	necessary to us	the functionality of	described herein, including	g, without limitation, the
		license right to operate the	target system landsc	ape after cloning and/or	copying.												
		Basic Data															
		Basic Data of Target	System														
		System ID:	T41														
		Use Different Database	Name: 🗸														
		HANA SID:	T4P	MA Dama													
		Pool	DEMO 2 DA	and Dellio													
	Ì	Master Password:															
		Confirm Master Passwo	ord: Conv. of Su	stem '5.41'													
		beachpion.	(copy or by	alon ovi													
		Host Selection															
		Host Selection of Tar	rget System														
		Instance				Туре		т	arget Host								
		AS instance: 00				Use exis	ting host	P	wrlnx005								
		Central services: 01				Use exis	ting host	p	wrlnx005								
		System database: MA	STER (configured) :	HANA 02		Use exis	iting host	p	wrlnx005								
		Host Names															
		Virtual Host Names a	and Networks														
					Target		Loca						Additional Infor	nation			
		Host Name		Auto IP A	ddress IP Add	iress	Net	work	Instan	ce					Host N	lame Usage	
		t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr		V			LAJ	MANET	AS int	tance: 00					Installe	ition Host Name	

Figure 49 Summary Tab

The execution of all of the System Copy tasks with all individual steps can be monitored in the Monitoring view (see Figure 50 on page 50).

Lands	cape Management							Working Set: Alb V Sea	rch: 🚺 🚱 🧄 🖨 U	JM on dsaplvm(09:31) / Rela	ted Links & Help _ Administrator _
Advanced Operation	ins Provisioning Av	tomation Studio	Monitoring	g Configuration Inf	frastructure						Setup
Overview											
Cancel   Hold	Release Continue Retry Ren	ove   Fitering   E	xport						Latest Server Time: 2019-03-29 09:31:44 CET	Auto 🗘 Inter	valsi: 10   🚱   🕭 🗸
b 0	Status	Progress		Description			Note	User	Start Time (CET)	Duration	Retry Of
F											
5.093	💩 Executing	0%		System Copy				Administrator	2019-03-29 09:31:44	0.00	
5.090	C Completed	100%		System destroy				Administrator	2019-03-29 08:59:09	0:53	
5.089	Completed	100%		Retry: Stop and unprepare [Mass]				Administrator	2019-03-29 08:58:02	0:33	5.088
5.088	St Failed	71%		Stop and unprepare [Mass]				Administrator	2019-03-29 08:44:18	6:50	
5.067	Completed	100%		System Copy				Administrator	2019-03-05 09:45:01	21:37	
5,059	Completed	100%		System destroy				Administrator	2019-02-26 13:07:14	4:07	
	A set of the Parlaments A statistic ID	6002								<u></u>	
ows: o totar, o anom	Therefore delectical Activity in -	3053									
Summary	Steps										
Support Details	atopa				_						
Support Details											
C Executing	Common D	Destaurus De	Hart for D	Charles	Chan Trees	Duration	Country	Instance Official Firment	. Hereiter and the	alflowerst	
	DUCCESSUI IUS	Predecessor us	HOOK IOI ID	Status	Step rine	Duration	Operation	Instance/Virtual Element	Hospharene Virtual	Liement	
1				A Executing	0.00	0.00	Create Target System	T41, t41ci01, lvm.ats.fr			
2	1	1		45 Scheduled			DNS Update	T41, 141ci01, lym.ats.fr			
3	4/	2		45 Scheduled			Prenare Clone Volumes	S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41c01	pwrhx005		
4		3		© Scheduled			Clone Volumes	S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41c01	pwrhx005		
5	13.14.16.20.24.25.26.27.28.29.6.7/	3.4		© Scheduled	+		Post Clone Volumes	T41, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrhx005		
6		5		© Scheduled	+		Update mount configuration	T41, 141ci01, lym.ats.fr	pwrltx005		
7		5		a Scheduled	+		Finalize Clone Volumes	T41, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrhx005		
8	10.11./	5.6		© Scheduled			Clear Local Cache	T41, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrhx005		
9	16	8		Scheduled			Prepare	T41 Instance: 01, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005		

Figure 50 Monitoring View

Select the task in the top window to see the progress of the individual steps in the bottom window, as shown in Figure 51 and Figure 52.

Summar	у	Steps									
Support De	tais										<b>B</b> _
C Executio	g										
	D	Successor IDs	Predecessor IDs	Hook for ID	Status	Step Time	Duration	Operation	Instance/Virtual Element	Host/Parent Virtual Element	-
8											
	1	2			C Executing	0:00	0:00	Create Target System	T41, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr		
	2	3	1		Scheduled			DNS Update	T41, t41ci01.ivm.ats.fr		
	3	4,5	2		Scheduled			Prepare Clone Volumes	S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41ci01	pwrinx005	
	4	5	3		Scheduled			Clone Volumes	S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41ci01	pwrinx005	
	5	13,14,16,20,24,25,26,27,28,29,6,7,8	3,4		Scheduled			Post Clone Volumes	T41, 641ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	6	8	5		Scheduled			Update mount configuration	T41, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	7		5		Scheduled			Finalize Clone Volumes	T41, 541ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	8	10,11,9	5,6		Scheduled			Clear Local Cache	T41, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	9	12	8		Scheduled			Prepare	T41 Instance: 01, 141 ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrlnx005	
	10	12	8		Scheduled			Prepare	T4P Database: HDB, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	11	12	8		Scheduled			Prepare	T41 Instance: 00, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	12	13	9,10,11	9	Scheduled			Create Firewall Rules	T41 Instance: 01, 141 ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	13	14	5,12		Scheduled			OS User Management	T41, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr		
	14	15	5,13		Scheduled			Check Mount Points	T41, 641ci01.lvm.ats.fr		
	15	16	14		Scheduled			Enable Post Copy Automation Changes in Profile	T41, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	16	17,18,19,20,25,26,28,29	5,15		Scheduled			Software Provisioning Manager	T41 Instance: 01, 141 ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	17	18	16		Scheduled			HANA Lifecycle Management	T4P Database: HDB, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	18	19,20,25,27,28,29	16,17		Scheduled			Software Provisioning Manager	T4P Database: HDB, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	19	20,24,25,28,29	16,18		Scheduled			Software Provisioning Manager	T41 Instance: 00, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	20	21,22,23	5,16,18,19	23	Scheduled			Create Firewall Rules	T41 Instance: 00, 141 ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	

Figure 51 Individual Steps of System Copy Task

	Summary	Steps									
S	pport Details										<b>B</b> _
۵,	Completed										
	D	Successor IDs	Predecessor IDs	Hook for ID	Status	Step Time	Duration	Operation	Instance/Virtual Element	Host/Parent Virtual Element	
F											
	1	2			Cy Completed	0:00	0:00	Create Target System	T41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, 141ci01.htm.ats.fr		
	2	3	1		Cy Completed	0:00	0:17	DNS Update	T41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, 141ci01.htm.ats.fr		
	3	4,5	2		Completed	0:18	0:18	Prepare Clone Volumes	S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41ci01	pwrinx005	
	4	5	3		Completed	0:37	1:10	Clone Volumes	S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41ci01	pwrinx005	
	5	13,14,16,20,24,25,26,27,28,29,6,7,8	3,4		Completed	1:48	0:29	Post Clone Volumes	T41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	6	8	5		Completed	2:18	0:14	Update mount configuration	T41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, 141ci01.htm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	7		5		Completed	2:19	0:18	Finalize Clone Volumes	T41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, 141ci01.htm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	
	8	10,11,9	5,6		Completed	2:33	0:02	Clear Local Cache	T41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, 141ci01.htm.ats.fr	pwrinx005	

Figure 52 Successful completion of the individual Steps

After all of the steps are completed successfully, the System Copy Process Status changes to Completed in the Overview window of the Monitoring tab (see Figure 53).



Figure 53 Successful Completion of the System Copy Process

#### System refresh

Refreshing a System copy (for example, QA or Test) with data means overwriting the target system with the latest data from a source system while maintaining the configuration.

For refreshing the system, the following tasks are performed by SAP Landscape Management (see Figure 54 on page 52):

- Export Configuration
- Stop
- Unprepare:
  - Unregister database
  - Detaches DB from host
  - Unbind virtual IP addresses
  - Unmounts file systems
  - Unprepare IP addresses
- Clone
- Prepare
- Activate Isolation
- System-rename
- Start
- Import configuration + PCA
- Deactivate Isolation

The Refresh option can be found by using the Provisioning tab of Lama.



Figure 54 SAP Landscape Management Overview window

In the following example, T41 is a system copy of S41 and is used for QA. To update (for example) a previously copied or cloned system T41 with all the changes of S41, the refresh system functionality can be used (see Figure 55).

Landscape Manageme	nt				Working Set: <a< th=""><th>▶ ▼</th><th>Search:</th><th></th><th>i</th><th>Go 4</th><th>(+) (-) (-)</th><th>1 on dsaplvm(0)</th><th>8:42) / Related Lin</th><th>ks &amp; Help 🖌</th><th>Administri</th><th>ator "</th></a<>	▶ ▼	Search:		i	Go 4	(+) (-) (-)	1 on dsaplvm(0)	8:42) / Related Lin	ks & Help 🖌	Administri	ator "
Advanced Operations Provisioning	Automation Studio	Monitoring	Configuration	Infrastructure											Setup	
System and AS Virtual Host			-													
System Landscape	T41: NetWeaver ABA	7.52, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	System 🖌   Manage S	System Snapshots 🖌								Aut	nterval(s):	10	🔁   Shov	w in "
	General R R System Name: R R System D: T41 System Host: Kete Type: Netri Release: 752 Instance D: Syst Descripton: Cep Poot DEM Status: R R	Ifreat System Ifreat Database Istore-Based Refresh (E) 01.km ats. fr Veaver ABAP emD T41. SystemHost.141 rof System 'S41' O > LAMA Demo unning			2 2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	rovision rovisione rovisionin cource Sy rovision Operation System C System C System C System C	ing Information d By: g Time (CET): stem: ting history a Type copy storage copy storage copy storage copy undefined copy undefined	Source S41 S41 S41 S41 S41 S41	Target T41 T41 T41 T41 T41 T41	Operation Tim 2019-03-05 0 2019-02-08 1 2019-02-06 1 2019-02-06 1 2019-02-06 1	Copy 2019-03-05 09: S41: NetWeave 19:45:00 12:50:51 13:31:46 16:55:25 16:27:50	44:59 rr ABAP 7.52, t rovisioned				
	Instances				OS	Ne	etwork	Descri	iption	Pro	ovisioned By	1	Provisioning Time (C	ET)		
	System database	ABAP): MASTER : T4P, HAP	NA 02, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr		Linux	L	AMANET	Copy	of S41	Co	ору		2019-03-05 09:44:5	9		
	Central services (	ABAP): 01, t41ci01.lvm.ats.f	fr		Linux	U	AMANET	Copy	of S41	Co	ору		2019-03-05 09:44:5	9		
	AS instance (ABA	P): 00, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr			Linux	U	AMANET	Copy	of S41	Co	opy		2019-03-05 09:44:5	9		

Figure 55 Configure System Refresh

The following options are available:

- Refresh System: Refreshes the complete system, including central instance, application server, and database.
- Refresh database: Refreshes only the database. Configuration settings of the application instance and central instance are kept.
- Restore-refresh Database: For SAP HANA databases only.

Refresh is done by restoring a backup of the source system (for example, the production system) into the target system (for example, the QA System). The configuration settings of application instance and central instance are kept.

#### **Refresh System**

During the Refresh System process, the target system is overwritten by the Source Target data.

To restore the target configuration settings after the system refresh, they must be exported first. If the configuration settings exist, they can be used by specifying the directory:

• Step 1: Basic (see Figure 56)

System Refresh - T41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr									
Previous Next P   Finish P   Start System Refresh Create Blueprint (Remote Execution Cancel									
I∳ 1 2 Basic Hosts	3 Host Names	4 Storage	5 Consistency	6 Users	7 Rename	8 Isolation	9 ABAP PCA	10 Delete Storage Volumes	11 Summary
Basic Data of System to be R Refresh from System:	S41: NetWeaver A	ABAP 7.52, s4	11ci01						
Export of system configuration	data								
Export already exists:									
Export to Directory:*	/tmp/VCM_pca/T4	1/							
Remove Export After Import:									
Set master password for OS an	Set master password for OS and DB users								
The master password is used as the default password in all steps. If passwords differ, they can be changed in the steps.									
Password:*	nange me master pa	assword while a	a system retresh is	running.					
Confirm Password:*									

Figure 56 Figure 51:Basic Configuration

• Step 2: Hosts (see Figure 57)

In the next step, the source and target hosts can be selected. Because this refresh is a system refresh, SAP Landscape Management completes the current target system information, but you can define a new target host that gets you a new refreshed system.

System Refresh - T41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr							
Previous Next V   Finish V   Start System Refresh Create Blueprint Remote Execution Cancel							
Basic Hosts Host Names Stora	ge Consist	ency Users	7 Rename	8 Isolation	9 ABAP PCA	10 Delete Storage Volumes	11
Host Selection of Target System Show Source Data							
Instance	Source Host	Туре		Target Hos	t		
AS instance: 00	pwrlnx010	Use existing host	•	pwrlnx007			
Central services: 01	pwrlnx010	Use existing host	•	pwrlnx007			
System database: MASTER (configured) : HANA 02	pwrlnx010	Use existing host	•	pwrlnx007			
						<b>V</b>	

Figure 57 Host Configuration

Step 3: Host names (see Figure 58 on page 54)

The IP addresses and virtual host names are displayed in the Hostnames tab.

Svs	Average Darker N. 44-Na Hallanswar ARAD 7.52 146-061 kum ste fr							
	Perceba Net B (Finith H) (Start System Refeat) Oreste Burght (, Remote Execution (Cancel) (Reset Step) (Check Step)							
I+	le 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 → Basic Hosts Names Storage Consistency Users Rename Bolation ABAPPCA Delete Storage Volumes Summary							
Virt	ual Host Names and Networks							
0	Add Remove					Show Source Data		
			Target		Additional Information			
	Host Name	Auto IP Address	IP Address	Network	Instance	Host Name Usage		
					AS instance: 00	Installation Host Name		
	t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	1	10.3.25.239	LAMANET	Central services: 01	Installation Host Name		
	t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr		10.3.25.239	LAMANET	System database: MASTER (configured) : HANA 02	Installation Host Name		

Figure 58 Virtual Hostnames Configuration

• Step 4: Storage

In the Storage tab, the storage can be selected where the data is copied to and if a snapshot is sufficient or if a full copy is necessary (see Figure 59).

System Refresh - T41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, 141ci01.tvm.ats.fr							
Previous Next F   Finish F   Start System Refresh Crea	Revolues Next P   Finish N   Start System Refresh Create Blueprint , Remote Execution Cancel     Reset Step Check Step						
[#1234E							
Basic Hosts Host Names Storage Consis	tency Users Rename Isolation	ABAP PCA Delete Storage Volumes	Summary				
Storage Volumes							
Copy Target Selection							Show Source Data
				Target			<u> </u>
Name	Operation	Name	Full Copy	Storage System	Storage Pool	Volume	
Storage Manager: PowerVC							
<ul> <li>Volume Group: s4phdbvg</li> </ul>		t4phdbvg	1				
Volume: sh1_hanavg	Create New Volume		1	SVC			
Logical Volume: s4pvarlibly		t4pvaribly					
Logical Volume: s4psharedly		t4psharedlv					
Logical Volume: s4pdatalv		t4pdatalv					
Logical Volume: s4ploglv		t4ploglv					
<ul> <li>Volume Group: s4pbackupvg</li> </ul>		t4pbackupvg	<ul><li>✓</li></ul>				
Volume: s4p_backup	Create New Volume		1	SVC			_
Logical Volume: s4pbakuplv		t4pbakuplv					
Storage Manager Details							
Label: PowerVC							
Vender IBM							
Product: IBM PowerVC Storage Adap							
Version: 3.0.3							
	2						
Monitoring Time. 2013-05-13 13:43:41 CET							

Figure 59 Storage Configuration

• Step 5: Consistency

The consistency options can be selected in the Consistency tab. For production environments, an online copy might be necessary; however, for this step, the database must be put in a consistent state (Suspend I/O Mode), which ensures that all data is written to the disk (see Figure 60).

System Refresh - T41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr								
Previous Next      I Finish      I Start System Refresh Create Blueprint      Remote Execution Cancel								
<b> + 1 2 3</b>	4	5 6	7	8	9	10	11	
Basic Hosts Host Nar	mes Storage	Consistency Use	s Rename	Isolation	ABAP PCA	Delete Storage Volumes	Summary	
Database Consistency i								
Online: Backup/Suspend IO Mode T	limeout (seconds):	90						
O Offline: Stop and Restart System								
O Offline: Database already stopped								
O Database was stopped during system	snapshot							
Scheduled Execution of Cloning Sten	, CI							
Schedule execution of cloning step								
Execution Date (CET):								
Execution Date (CET):								
Latest Server Time (CET):								
Latest Server tille (GET).								

Figure 60 Consistency Configuration

#### Step 6: Users

٠

Users can be selected in the User's tab and passwords can be changed (see Figure 61).

System Refresh - T41: NetW	eaver ABAP 7.52, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr							
Previous Next 🕨   Fin	Previous Next      Finish      Start System Refresh Create Blueprint , Remote Execution Cancel     Reset Step Check Step							
	3 4 5 6	7 8 9		10	11			
Basic Hosts	Host Names Storage Consistency Use	s Rename Isolation ABAP PCA	Delete	Storage Volumes	Summary			
User and Group Manageme	nt							
						Show Deta	is Show Sourc	ce Data
			Target					
User ID	User Name	Password				User already exists		
t4padm	t4padm							
t41adm	t41adm							
								-
User Details and Assigned	Groups							
Townskille on Datalla			_					
liger D: tigedm			Та	arget Group Assigni	ment			-
User Name: t4padm				Group Name	Primary	Group ID	Create	
Password:			-	s4psys	•	cn=s4psys,ou=group,dc=lvm,dc=ats,dc=fr		_
Home Directory: /usr/sap/T4P/	home			t4pshm	0	cn=t4pshm,ou=group,dc=lvm,dc=ats,dc=tr		
Login Shell: /bin/sh				sapsys	۲	cn=sapsys,ou=group,dc=ivm,dc=ats,dc=tr		
User D Number: 2005								
and the second second								
Additional Attributes								
Name	Target Value							
objectClass	top posixAccount inetOrgPerson							
uid	t4padm							
dn	uid=t4padm,ou=people,dc=lvm,dc=ats,dc=fr							
sn	t4padm							
	Manda							

Figure 61 Users Configuration

• Step 7: Rename

The system rename can be configured in the Rename tab; for example, the directories to use (see Figure 44 on page 47). If any warnings occur that indicate that directories exist, they can be ignored because this issue is expected for a refresh.

· Step 8: Isolation

After the copy, the system must be isolated to not communicate with other systems in the landscape (see Figure 45 on page 48).

Step 9: ABAP PCA

The ABAP Post copy automation (PCA) process makes all necessary changes in the target system; for example, imports the exported configuration settings, again by way of a task list (see Figure 45 on page 48 or Figure 47 on page 48).

Step 10: Delete Storage Volumes

Configure if you want to delete the original storage volumes or to keep them.

Step 11: Summary

After checking the system refresh configuration, the Start System Refresh can be started.

In the Monitoring window, the System Refresh Task is listed with the individual tasks in the window.

#### Relocate

This section describes the relocation of an instance or a set of instances from one host to another physically or virtually. Instances can be relocated in running status or not running status. The operation retains the status of the instances. Not running instances are unprepared and prepared.

#### Prerequisite

If you relocate SAP instances that are connected to an SAP HANA database, ensure that you installed the hdbclient with the -H <virtual-hostname> option. If this is not the case, the hdbuserstore entry is generated only for the current physical host. Check the <hdbclient-dir>/install/installation.ini file. This file must contain an HOSTNAME=<virtual-hostname> entry.

For more information, see Secure User Store (hdbuserstore) in the SAP HANA Security Guide.

#### Notes

SAP Landscape Management cannot relocate SAP HANA tenant databases.

An SAP HANA System can be relocated only to a target system that runs on the same hardware platform as the source system. Complete the following steps:

1. From the operations and maintenance window, select the SAP system that you want to relocate and use the drop-down arrow that is next to Operations to select the relocate functionality (see Figure 62).

= < > 5447		SAP Landscape Management Q. Refresh v Working Set. All LDM on dsaphvm (16.31) 🔞 Administrati					
Dverview	~					ga Syste	Hosts 🛆 Cloud 🔗 Virtua 🏂 Storage
Dashboard							
Visualization		Systems					
SAP Database Admini	stration						
Search							
🚸 Operations and Mainte	×	Group by Systems (No Grouping) $\lor  \nabla$				Ma	ass Operations 🗸 🕒 🌐 🎯
Operations		No filters selected					5
Advanced Operations		Name	Status	Pool	Description	Assigned Host	Operations
職 Provisioning	>	> 5 SAP Landscape Management	Running	Framework			Operations 🗸
2 Automation Studio	>	> 63 R41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, r41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	♦ Initial	LAMA Demo	① Operation failed		Operations 🗸
🔝 Monitoring	>	> 3 S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.50, s4phdb00	♦ Initial	LAMA Demo	③ 3 instances with alerts		Operations 🗸
Configuration	>	✓ I <sup>II</sup> S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41ci01	C Running	LAMA Demo	S/4HANA 1709 2-tier		Operations 🗸
品 Infrastructure	>	S4P System database (ABAP): MASTER : HANA 02, s41ci01	C Running	LAMA Demo	Validation warning	pwrinx010	Operations V
🚯 Setup	>	S41 Central services (ABAP): 01, s41ci01	Running	LAMA Demo	Validation warning	pwrlnx010	Operations 🗸
		S41 AS instance (ABAP): 00, s41ci01	Running	LAMA Demo		pwrinx010	Operations 🗸
		> 03 S41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, s41cloneci01.lvm.ats.fr	♦ Initial	LAMA Demo	Clone of System 'S41'		Operations 🗸
		V 📴 T41: NetWeaver ABAP 7.52, t41ci01.lvm.ats.fr	Running	LAMA Demo	Copy of System 'S41'		Operations 🗸
		T4P System database (ABAP): MASTER : HANA 02, 141ci01.lvm.ats.fr	Running	LAMA Demo	Validation warning	pwrinx005	Operations 🗸
		Systems: 6, Instances: 18					<ul> <li>Restart</li> </ul>
							<ul> <li>Relocate (running)</li> </ul>
							Stop     Relocate (running)
							Stop and unprepare
							Forced >
							SAP HANA Replication >
							SAP HANA Processes >
							NewOperation >
							Other >
							I Non-Executable Operations
,	-						

Figure 62 Operations and Maintenance window

2. In the Setup execution window, select the target host (see Figure 63).

Relocate (running) Setup execution		רא צא
S41 Central services (ABAP): 01, s41ci01 RUNNING		
V Parameters		
*Host	pwrlnx010 다	
*Hard Database Shutdown	◯ True ● False ●	
*Hard Instance Shutdown	● True ◯ False ●	
*Timeout (in Seconds)	300	
× Settings		

Figure 63 Configure Host

3. Hosts can be selected from the Allowed values window that opens. Click the icon that is next to the host (see Figure 64).

i Allowed Values						
> Filter						
Host	Available Memory (GB)	Available SAPS	Network	Number of Instances		
Auto Assign (Preferred)						
Auto Assign (Last Used)						
Auto Assign (First Fit)						
pwrlnx010 (Preferred, Last Used)	42.0	10000	LAMANET	3		
pwrlnx003 (First Fit)	11.3	5000	LAMANET	0		
pwrlnx002	5.3	2500	LAMANET	0		
pwrlnx001	63.2	5000	LAMANET	0		
pwrlnx006	19.1	100000	LAMANET	3		

Figure 64 Available Hosts

If you select **Hard Database Shutdown** or **Hard Instance Shutdown**, the database or instance stops immediately, even if clients are connected.

Specifying Hard Instance Shutdown as "False" allows you to specify a timeout if the instance supports a soft shutdown mode.

Selecting **Ignore Host Check** or **Ignore Intersystem Dependencies** is not recommended and should be used with care.

4. Click **Execute** and check the progress of the individual tasks in the monitoring window.

For more information, see the User Guide SAP Landscape Management 3.0 Enterprise Edition on the SAP Help Portal.

# Appendix

To ensure that SAP applications run smoothly, SAP offers the tailored data center integration (TDI) approach to hardware selection. This approach allows customers to maintain hardware flexibility with sensitivity to budget.

For more information about all storage systems that are certified for SAP HANA production, see the Certified and Supported SAP HANA Hardware web page (log in required).

# Notices

This information was developed for products and services offered in the US. This material might be available from IBM in other languages. However, you may be required to own a copy of the product or product version in that language in order to access it.

IBM may not offer the products, services, or features discussed in this document in other countries. Consult your local IBM representative for information on the products and services currently available in your area. Any reference to an IBM product, program, or service is not intended to state or imply that only that IBM product, program, or service may be used. Any functionally equivalent product, program, or service that does not infringe any IBM intellectual property right may be used instead. However, it is the user's responsibility to evaluate and verify the operation of any non-IBM product, program, or service.

IBM may have patents or pending patent applications covering subject matter described in this document. The furnishing of this document does not grant you any license to these patents. You can send license inquiries, in writing, to:

IBM Director of Licensing, IBM Corporation, North Castle Drive, MD-NC119, Armonk, NY 10504-1785, US

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION PROVIDES THIS PUBLICATION "AS IS" WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. Some jurisdictions do not allow disclaimer of express or implied warranties in certain transactions, therefore, this statement may not apply to you.

This information could include technical inaccuracies or typographical errors. Changes are periodically made to the information herein; these changes will be incorporated in new editions of the publication. IBM may make improvements and/or changes in the product(s) and/or the program(s) described in this publication at any time without notice.

Any references in this information to non-IBM websites are provided for convenience only and do not in any manner serve as an endorsement of those websites. The materials at those websites are not part of the materials for this IBM product and use of those websites is at your own risk.

IBM may use or distribute any of the information you provide in any way it believes appropriate without incurring any obligation to you.

The performance data and client examples cited are presented for illustrative purposes only. Actual performance results may vary depending on specific configurations and operating conditions.

Information concerning non-IBM products was obtained from the suppliers of those products, their published announcements or other publicly available sources. IBM has not tested those products and cannot confirm the accuracy of performance, compatibility or any other claims related to non-IBM products. Questions on the capabilities of non-IBM products should be addressed to the suppliers of those products.

Statements regarding IBM's future direction or intent are subject to change or withdrawal without notice, and represent goals and objectives only.

This information contains examples of data and reports used in daily business operations. To illustrate them as completely as possible, the examples include the names of individuals, companies, brands, and products. All of these names are fictitious and any similarity to actual people or business enterprises is entirely coincidental.

#### COPYRIGHT LICENSE:

This information contains sample application programs in source language, which illustrate programming techniques on various operating platforms. You may copy, modify, and distribute these sample programs in any form without payment to IBM, for the purposes of developing, using, marketing or distributing application programs conforming to the application programming interface for the operating platform for which the sample programs are written. These examples have not been thoroughly tested under all conditions. IBM, therefore, cannot guarantee or imply reliability, serviceability, or function of these programs. The sample programs are provided "AS IS", without warranty of any kind. IBM shall not be liable for any damages arising out of your use of the sample programs.

# **Trademarks**

IBM, the IBM logo, and ibm.com are trademarks or registered trademarks of International Business Machines Corporation, registered in many jurisdictions worldwide. Other product and service names might be trademarks of IBM or other companies. A current list of IBM trademarks is available on the web at "Copyright and trademark information" at http://www.ibm.com/legal/copytrade.shtml

The following terms are trademarks or registered trademarks of International Business Machines Corporation, and might also be trademarks or registered trademarks in other countries.

AIX®	IBM F
DB2®	IBM F
Easy Tier®	IBM S
FlashCopy®	IBM S
IBM®	POW

FlashCore® FlashSystem® Spectrum® Spectrum Storage™ ′ER® POWER9™ Redbooks (logo) System Storage™ Tivoli®

The following terms are trademarks of other companies:

Intel, Intel logo, Intel Inside logo, and Intel Centrino logo are trademarks or registered trademarks of Intel Corporation or its subsidiaries in the United States and other countries.

The registered trademark Linux® is used pursuant to a sublicense from the Linux Foundation, the exclusive licensee of Linus Torvalds, owner of the mark on a worldwide basis.

Windows, and the Windows logo are trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States, other countries, or both.

Java, and all Java-based trademarks and logos are trademarks or registered trademarks of Oracle and/or its affiliates.

Red Hat, are trademarks or registered trademarks of Red Hat, Inc. or its subsidiaries in the United States and other countries.

UNIX is a registered trademark of The Open Group in the United States and other countries.

VMware, and the VMware logo are registered trademarks or trademarks of VMware, Inc. or its subsidiaries in the United States and/or other jurisdictions.

Other company, product, or service names may be trademarks or service marks of others.

# Terms and conditions for product documentation

Permissions for the use of these publications are granted subject to the following terms and conditions.

### Applicability

These terms and conditions are in addition to any terms of use for the IBM website.

#### **Commercial use**

You may reproduce, distribute and display these publications solely within your enterprise provided that all proprietary notices are preserved. You may not make derivative works of these publications, or reproduce, distribute or display these publications or any portion thereof outside your enterprise, without the express consent of IBM.

#### **Rights**

Except as expressly granted in this permission, no other permissions, licenses or rights are granted, either express or implied, to the publications or any information, data, software or other intellectual property contained therein.

IBM reserves the right to withdraw the permissions granted herein whenever, in its discretion, the use of the publications is detrimental to its interest or, as determined by IBM, the above instructions are not being properly followed.

You may not download, export or re-export this information except in full compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, including all United States export laws and regulations.

IBM MAKES NO GUARANTEE ABOUT THE CONTENT OF THESE PUBLICATIONS. THE PUBLICATIONS ARE PROVIDED "AS-IS" AND WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, NON-INFRINGEMENT, AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE.

#### **Privacy policy considerations**

IBM Software products, including software as a service solutions, ("Software Offerings") may use cookies or other technologies to collect product usage information, to help improve the end user experience, to tailor interactions with the end user, or for other purposes. In many cases no personally identifiable information is collected by the Software Offerings. Some of our Software Offerings can help enable you to collect personally identifiable information, specific information about this offering's use of cookies is set forth below.

This Software Offering does not use cookies or other technologies to collect personally identifiable information.

If the configurations deployed for this Software Offering provide you as customer the ability to collect personally identifiable information from end users via cookies and other technologies, you should seek your own legal advice about any laws applicable to such data collection, including any requirements for notice and consent.

For more information about the use of various technologies, including cookies, for these purposes, see IBM's Privacy Policy at <a href="http://www.ibm.com/privacy">http://www.ibm.com/privacy</a> and IBM's Online Privacy Statement at <a href="http://www.ibm.com/privacy/details">http://www.ibm.com/privacy</a> and IBM's Online Privacy Statement at <a href="http://www.ibm.com/privacy/details">http://www.ibm.com/privacy</a> and IBM's Online Privacy Statement at <a href="http://www.ibm.com/privacy/details">http://www.ibm.com/privacy</a> and IBM's Online Privacy Statement at <a href="http://www.ibm.com/privacy/details">http://www.ibm.com/privacy/details</a> in the section entitled "Cookies, Web Beacons and Other Technologies," and the "IBM Software Products and Software-as-a-Service Privacy Statement" at <a href="http://www.ibm.com/software/info/product-privacy">http://www.ibm.com/software/info/product-privacy</a>.

	e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e

© Copyright IBM Corporation

May 2020

US Government Users Restricted Rights - Use, duplication or disclosure restricted by GSA ADP Schedule Contract with IBM Corp.



Please recycle

ISBN 0738458856

REDP-5541-02